
 

Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 
Transportation) Committee 

 
Date: THURSDAY, 29 APRIL 2021 

Time: 11.00 am 

Venue: https://youtu.be/-SF8Vw44JxA  

 
Members: Randall Anderson 

Peter Bennett 
Marianne Fredericks 
Sheriff Christopher Hayward 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
Shravan Joshi 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Graham Packham 
Oliver Sells QC 
William Upton QC 
Christopher Hill (Ex-Officio Member) 
Paul Martinelli (Ex-Officio Member) 
One Member of the Open Spaces & City Gardens Committee (to be 
appointed on 27 April 2021) (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Joseph Anstee 

Joseph.Anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 

 https://youtu.be/-SF8Vw44JxA 
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical 

location following regulations made under Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020. A 
recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the 
public meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do 

not constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on 
the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of 

the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/-SF8Vw44JxA
https://youtu.be/-SF8Vw44JxA


 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing Order 29. 

 For Decision 
 

4. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN 
 To elect a Deputy Chairman in accordance with Standing Order 30. 

 For Decision 
 

5. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 18 

February 2021 as a correct record. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 12) 

 
6. PEDESTRIAN PRIORITY PROGRAMME 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 13 - 28) 

 
7. CLIMATE ACTION STRATEGY - COOL STREETS AND GREENING PROGRAMME 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 29 - 42) 

 
8. CITY CLUSTER AREA - WELLBEING AND CLIMATE CHANGE RESILIENCE 

PROGRAMME IMPLEMENTATION (2021-2024) 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 43 - 56) 

 
9. CITY CLUSTER AREA - ACTIVATION AND ENGAGEMENT PROGRAMME 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 57 - 62) 

 
 
 



3 
 

10. CITY OF LONDON TRANSPORT STRATEGY - REVIEW 2022 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 63 - 68) 

 
11. BLOOMBERG DEVELOPMENT HIGHWAY WORKS 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 69 - 78) 

 
12. CONSOLIDATED REPORT - SHOE LANE QUARTER PUBLIC REALM 

ENHANCEMENTS - PHASES 1 AND 2 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 79 - 88) 

 
13. CITY CLUSTER AREA - PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 89 - 98) 

 
14. HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE TERM CONTRACT TENDER 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 99 - 108) 

 
15. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN 
 Report of the Town Clerk 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 109 - 110) 

 
16. OUTSTANDING REFERENCES 
 Report of the Town Clerk 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 111 - 112) 

 
17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
18. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act as follows:- 

For Decision 



 

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 
 
19. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2021 as a 

correct record. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 113 - 114) 

 
20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE 

CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
 



 

 

STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB (PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION) 
COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 18 February 2021  
 

Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 
Transportation) Committee held on Thursday, 18 February 2021 at 11.00 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Graham Packham (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Peter Bennett 
Marianne Fredericks 
Sheriff Christopher Hayward 
Shravan Joshi 
Alderman Alison Gowman (Ex-Officio Member) 
Christopher Hill (Ex-Officio Member) 
Paul Martinelli (Ex-Officio Member) 
Barbara Newman (Ex-Officio Member) 

 
 

Officers: 
Olumayowa Obisesan 
Deborah Cluett 
Ian Hughes  

- Chamberlain’s Department 
- Comptroller & City Solicitor's Dept. 
- Department of the Built Environment 

Gillian Howard - Department of the Built Environment 

Leah Coburn 
Bruce McVean 
Simon Glynn 

- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 

Kristian Turner - Department of the Built Environment 

Melanie Charalambous - Department of the Built Environment 

Clarisse Tavin - Department of the Built Environment 

Tom Noble 
George Wright 
Maria Curro 
Sam Lee 
Giles Radford 
Kay English 
Michelle Ross 
Leila Ben-Hassel 
Patrick Hegarty 
Nina Houghton-Worsfold 
Joseph Anstee 
 

- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Department of the Built Environment 
- Open Spaces Department 
- City of London Police 
- Town Clerk’s Department 
 

Also in attendance: 
Deputy John Tomlinson 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
Apologies for absence were received from Oliver Sells (Chairman), Deputy 
Keith Bottomley and Deputy Alastair Moss. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 1 December 2020 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

4. BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT: ALL CHANGE AT BANK  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
concerning the Bank Junction Improvements Project. The Director of the Built 
Environment introduced the report, drew Members’ attention to the key points 
and outlined the proposals. 
 
The Sub Committee then proceeded to discuss the proposals. Members raised 
the possibility of delay to the TfL Bank Station upgrade project and queried 
whether there had been any indication from TfL on reopening the Waterloo & 
City line, which would be material for the usage of the junction. Members 
expressed some disappointment at the binary nature of decisions on the 
consultation and sought assurances on the format and reach of the 
consultation, given many users of the junction were not currently in the area. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment advised that the proposed options in the 
consultation were limited by the complexity and scale of the project and the 
constraint of the current timescale. The Sub Committee noted that the Bank 
Station upgrade project, as well as TfL’s Bishopsgate scheme, were currently 
uncertain factors. Reaching people as part of the consultation would be a 
challenge, but there were lessons from the successful Climate Action Strategy 
and Return to Work Task Force consultations to draw on. The Director of the 
Built Environment advised that the project process so far had included working 
through many possible options and narrowing them down along the Gateway 
process based on practical and other considerations. The methodology for this 
was available to view and would be explained in the consultation. 
 
In response to a question from a Member, the Director of the Built Environment 
outlined the planned westbound diversion for the 521 bus route, and explained 
that event guests at Mansion House would leave via the existing left-turn only 
down Queen Victoria Street. The Sub Committee endorsed the suggestion of a 
Member to ask TfL to use their channels for communicating the consultation. 
This would amplify and extend the reach of the consultation and provide a more 
diverse range of responses. 
 
Members queried whether the 2022 timeline should be reconsidered if it was 
constraining, given the possibility of delays arising from TfL matters, and the 
anticipated gradual return of traffic. A Member posited that if Members were 
content to accept later delivery, this would present the opportunity to consult on 

Page 2



 

 

more options. The Director of the Built Environment responded that progress to 
this point had been on a systematic basis, and that whilst with more time there 
could have been an earlier consultation on multiple options, now that work to 
this stage had been completed, there was risk attached to returning to an 
earlier stage. The Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, commented that there was no 
guarantee that the project would run to existing timeline or cost, as it was not 
unusual for projects to face unforeseen challenges, and as pausing the project 
would cause significant slippage this should be considered as a last resort. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment advised that there was a more natural 
break point for the project in July, as there would be more complete information 
on the matters relating to TfL, and the results of the public consultation. In 
response to a question from a Member, the Director of the Built Environment 
advised that there were easier schemes to implement, but which would not 
have as much benefit, and that taking everything into consideration, the option 
proposed was the best available. 
 
Members asked whether it was worth deferring or extending the consultation 
period, and what would be considered a satisfactory level of response. In 
response, the Director of the Built Environment advised that there had been 
2,600 responses to the Climate Action Strategy consultation in Q1 2021, and 
1,200 responses to the Return to Work Task Force consultation in the first 
week, by comparison. The Director of the Built Environment added that six 
weeks was longest available consultation period within the existing timeline, 
and that there would be the option to consider pausing the project or extending 
consultation in July, if it was felt that the response rate was insufficient. 
 
The Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, summarising the discussion, proposed that 
the Sub Committee consider the recommendations, on the basis that there 
would be a more natural break point at next the stage of the project in July if 
any aspects needed to be reconsidered, and this was agreed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

1) Approve the detail and programme set out within this report to go out to 
public consultation, including: 
a) Agree to maintain the current restriction timings and mix of traffic of 

Monday to Friday 7am to 7pm on the ‘open arms’ to bus and cycle 
only as the base assumption for the consultation 

b) That Queen Victoria Street between Bucklersbury and Bank Junction 
is closed to all Motor Vehicles in an eastbound direction 24/7 

c) That Threadneedle Street is closed to Motor Vehicles between the 
junction and Bartholomew Lane in both directions 24/7 

d) That Princes Street is open to buses and cycles only in a northbound 
direction 24/7 

e) That Princes Street southbound is also intended to be the route for 
traffic to access Cornhill for servicing, as well as bus and cycles. 

f) Seeking views on potentially extending the restrictions times 
g) Seeking views regarding the traffic mix during the hours of restriction 

Page 3



 

 

h) Seeking feedback on the various public realm enhancement 
proposals outlined in paragraphs 39 to 50; 
 

2) Approve the following details to maintain pace of the programme; 
a) Agree that for the reasons set out in this report the proposed traffic 

model submission for TfL traffic management approvals, has the 
‘open’ arms of Cornhill westbound, King William/Lombard Street and 
Poultry operating as Buses and cycles only Monday to Friday 7am to 
7pm. 

b) Note that Members will be asked to approve the design, timings and 
mix of traffic following the public consultation, and should they 
consider it appropriate to seek amendments to the timing and vehicle 
mix assumptions (in 1a), these can still be considered prior to the 
scheme becoming operational at the end of 2022. 

 
3) Agree to delegate the final approval of the consultation material and 

consultation survey to the Director of the Built Environment in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of Streets and 
Walkways Sub-Committee; 
 

4) Agree that the project can go to Projects Sub Committee in June ahead 
of the Streets and Walkways Committee in July if necessary, given the 
programme constraints; 
 

5) Agree that if necessary, delegated authority is given to the Town Clerk in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of both Streets 
and Walkways and Projects Sub Committee, to consider the outcome of 
the public consultation to take minor design decisions, and/or agree 
changes to process or programme that require earlier approval ahead of 
the next available committee date in July; and 
 

6) That a Costed Risk Provision of £95,000 is approved to be retained (to 
be drawn down via delegation to Chief Officer). 

 
5. BEECH STREET ISSUES REPORT  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
concerning the Beech Street Transportation and Public Realm Project. The 
Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, introduced the item and advised of a correction, 
asking Members to disregard a sentence within paragraph 35 of the report. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment then introduced the report and drew 
Member’ attention to the key points, summarising the understanding of 
feedback received and the outcomes of the judicial review in respect of the 
scheme. The Director of the Built Environment then outlined the options 
presented for consideration, with Option 2 recommended for approval.  
 
The Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, then reminded Members that two briefings 
on the project had recently been held for local Ward Members not on the Sub 
Committee, and on both occasions the Members had expressed a preference 
for Option 2, before inviting Members to discuss the proposals. A Member 

Page 4



 

 

commented that the scheme had been subject to unfortunate timing, and that 
due to the circumstances the impact of the scheme had not been fully 
assessed. The Member added that the case in favour of the scheme should be 
strengthened, using robust data from Beech Street and the surrounding areas, 
and referencing the additional points made, before seeking clarification that the 
funding strategy for the scheme was still in place. The Director of the Built 
Environment responded that Resource Allocation Sub Committee would be 
considering funding in March, but there were options for funding the scheme. 
 
Members further raised the possibility of involving the Barbican Centre, as well 
as consulting residents’ associations other than Barbican and Golden Lane. A 
Member also inquired as to the enforcement of PCNs, caused by the absence 
of a right-hand turn through the central reservation, and raised issues reported 
by residents of Lauderdale Tower such as taxi access and deliveries. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment advised that the scheme was co-
ordinated with other schemes as part of a wider project in the area, and would 
clarify progress made on the Exhibition Halls with the City Surveyor. The 
inclusion of other residents’ association would be noted for the consultation, 
which would be rolled out in March. The Director of the Built Environment 
advised that exemptions for the scheme were complicated and involved a high 
level of administration, but officers would explore the legal and operational 
implications.  
 
The Director of the Built Environment then outlined the data regarding PCNs 
including their frequency and enforcement. Members’ points on the right-hand 
turn and access to car parks were noted, and the Sub Committee were advised 
that officers continued to work with companies on sat-nav maps and with 
interest groups to address some of the challenges faced by users.  A Member 
responded that they felt communication on the scheme needed to be improved, 
as there seemed to be a lack of progress on several longstanding issues such 
as mapping and access for taxis, carers and deliveries.  
 
A Member asked what would be required for a ‘white list’ of exempt vehicles, 
before raising several points regarding monitoring, air quality and PCNs. The 
Member advised that during the Bank On Safety scheme, PCNs had 
significantly decreased after the signage had been improved. The Member 
added that the new reservation openings were crucial, as the delivery issue 
was usually caused by larger deliveries, and it was hoped the reservation 
changes would improve this. In addition to Option 2, it was suggested going 
forward that officers consult on the permanent order and a wider zero-emission 
zone. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment advised that an exemption scheme would 
be similar in operation to a Controlled Parking Zone, and that officers were 
exploring the legal and operational implications. This could be brought back for 
consideration once these issues had been worked through. Officers were 
monitoring the extensive network of traffic changes relevant to the scheme, and 
would aim to carry the lessons on signage from the Bank on Safety scheme, as 
well as on compliance. The Director of the Built Environment added that 

Page 5



 

 

changes had been made to the signage following comments from Barbican 
residents, and it was hoped that the central reservation gaps would assist 
further. The Comptroller and City Solicitor then advised that the terms of the 
traffic order, including exemptions, had to be based on traffic management 
grounds. 
 
A Member commented that the scheme had been planned prior to the COVID-
19 pandemic and Members should consider the matter in this context. 
However, there had been a level of concern from residents and issues 
identified, but it seemed these had not been resolved. Noting that Members 
were willing to amend the scheme in order to resolve issues, the Member 
suggested a timeline for resolving the issues as solutions were needed sooner 
rather than later. 
 
The Director of the Built Environment reiterated that a decision on whether to 
make the scheme permanent was not scheduled until July 2021, and it was 
hoped that officers could gain fuller measurements of the impact of the scheme 
and resolve outstanding issues by this time. Members urged officers to 
consider the feedback received and assess whether there were satisfactory 
resolutions to the outstanding issues raised as a priority, as there was also 
motivation to move forward on considering a wider Zero Emissions scheme in 
the area. 
 
The Deputy Chairman, in the Chair, then summarised the discussion and drew 
Members’ attention to the recommendations set out in the report, proposing 
that the Sub Committee agree Option 2, and additionally to formally record the 
Sub Committee’s desire to move forward with the consideration of a wider Zero 
Emissions scheme, and this was agreed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

1. Approve the following options to progress the project: 
 

2) Option 2 – Approve the continuation of the Experimental Traffic 
Order until September 2021 with the changes to the central reservation 
(set out in Paragraph 69-77) made immediately. Continue to monitor 
the impacts while working towards consulting on a permanent scheme 
(based on the experiment as amended); 

 
2. Delegate authority to the Deputy Director (Transportation and Public 

Realm), in consultation with the Chairman, to approve the (non-statutory) 
public consultation content and then proceed with the consultation; 
 

3. Agree that the feasibility for an additional gap in the central reservation 
at Barbican Centre Car Park no.5 be explored in order to inform 
consideration of whether this should be promoted in the proposed 
permanent order; 
 

Page 6



 

 

4. If the above is deemed feasible, delegate authority to the Deputy 
Director (Transportation and Public Realm) to make amendments to the 
existing traffic order (subject to regular statutory processes); 
 

5. Agree that a provisional Streets and Walkways (virtual) meeting be 
arranged for early September 2021 (for Members to consider any 
objections to the statutory consultation on the permanent traffic order, as 
the next meeting of Streets and Walkways is not until October 2021); 
 

6. Note the experiment findings (as set out in paragraph 37 to 68 of the 
report); 
 

7. Note the representations of the Barbican Association (Appendix 2); 
 

8. Note and consider the request from a local resident to revoke the 
Experimental Traffic Order (paragraph 35); 
 

9. Note the intent to comprehensively engage with the public, user groups 
and local stakeholders on the next phase of the project (paragraph 119 
to 124); 
 

10. Note the continued work on delivering the public realm vision for Beech 
Street; waterproofing of the Barbican podiums and the redevelopment of 
the Exhibition Halls; 
 

11. Note that a Gateway 1/2 Report will be submitted later this year for the 
proposed initiation of the Barbican Healthy Streets Plan. If approved this 
will work towards delivering an area-based approach to delivering 
healthy streets and addressing air quality in the Barbican/Golden Lane 
area as per Proposal 29 of the City Transport Strategy. 

 
6. CROSSRAIL LIVERPOOL STREET URBAN INTEGRATION (PHASE 2)  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding Phase 2 of the Crossrail Liverpool Street Urban Integration project. A 
Member stressed the importance of stakeholder engagement, as there were a 
number of new offices and tenants in the area who may be uninformed. The 
Member asked officers to continue with consultation in order to seek as many 
responses and views as possible on the project, including from newer 
stakeholders. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

a) Note the recent delays incurred by the project, the reasons behind them 
and what the next steps are; and 
 

b) Note and approve the updated Costed Risk Register as set out in the 
appendix to the report (overall CRP has not changed). 

 
 
 

Page 7



 

 

7. 1 LEADENHALL STREET SECTION 278 HIGHWAY WORKS  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding Section 278 (S278) highway works to facilitate the 1 Leadenhall 
Street development. The Sub Committee noted that an additional 
recommendation authorising officers to enter into the S278 agreement once 
negotiated with the developer had been omitted in error, and this was also 
agreed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

1. Agree that a budget of £100,000 is approved for detail design, 
engagement with stakeholders and survey work to reach the next 
Gateway; 
 

2. Note the total estimated cost of the project at £550,000 - £800,000 
(excluding risk); and 
 

3. Authorise officers to enter into the S278 agreement once negotiated with 
the developer. 

 
8. 100 MINORIES PHASE ONE: S278 WORKS  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding Phase One of the S278 works at 100 Minories. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 

1. Note the revised total estimated cost of the project at £510,236 
(excluding risk), subject to successful completion of S278 agreement 
and receipt of monies; and 
 

2. Agree that a Costed Risk Provision of £68,000 is approved (to be drawn 
down via delegation to Chief Officer), subject to successful completion of 
S278 agreement and receipt of monies. 

 
9. GREENING CHEAPSIDE: SUNKEN GARDEN (PHASE 1B & PHASE 2)  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
concerning Phase 1B and Phase 2 of the Greening Cheapside project. The 
Director of the Built Environment introduced the report and gave a short 
presentation outlining the project so far and the options available for taking it 
forward. The Director of the Built Environment advised that all three options 
provided and delivered the project objectives. The option progressed would be 
dependent on the funding procured for the project, and officers would return 
with a preferred option once this had become known. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

1. Agree that the increased scope, in response to additional external 
funding secured, be approved; 
 

2. That all options are approved and to note that options 2 ‘silver’ and 3 
‘gold, will only be progressed should further funding be confirmed. This 

Page 8



 

 

funding decision will be taken by Members via a separate report on the 
implementation of the Climate Action Strategy; 
 

3. That additional budget of £50,000 is approved for fees and staff costs 
(fully externally funded) to reach the next Gateway (G4/5) and that 
£13,905 underspent from the current budget allocation is carried forward 
to be used on this next stage of the project; and 
 

4. Note the total estimated cost of the project (Phase 1B) at £296,095-
£515,000 (excluding costed risk provision). 

 
10. 80 FENCHURCH STREET  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding a project to undertake the required S278 highways works in the 
vicinity of the development at 80 Fenchurch Street. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

i) Approve the content of this outcome report; 
 

ii)  Authorise the Chamberlain’s department to return unspent section 278 
funds to the Developer as set out in the respective legal agreement 
(subject to the verification of the final account); and 

 
iii)  Agree to close the 80 Fenchurch Street project. 

 
11. 100 BISHOPSGATE S278  

The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
regarding highway improvements implemented under the S278 works at 100 
Bishopsgate. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

a) Approve the content of this outcome report; 
 

b) Authorise the Chamberlain’s department to return unspent Section 278 
funds as set out in the respective legal agreement (subject to the 
verification of the final accounts); and 
 

c) Agree to close the 100 Bishopsgate project. 
 

12. 60-70 ST MARY AXE  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
concerning the creation of a new public space and wider improved public realm 
in the vicinity of the 60-70 St Mary Axe development. 
 
In response to a question from a Member, the Director of the Built Environment 
and the Comptroller and City Solicitor respectively outlined usual practices in 
the agreement and implementation of S278 agreements, particularly regarding 
the return of unspent funds. 

Page 9



 

 

 
RESOLVED – That the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee: 
 

1. Note the contents of this report and authorise closure of the project; and 
 

2. Authorise the return of £94,030 to the developer under the terms of the 
Section 278 agreement, subject to verification of final accounts. 

 
13. MAJOR HIGHWAY ACTIVITIES 2021  

The Sub Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
 

14. ANTI-TERRORISM TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
 

15. THE HIGHWAYS CONSTRUCTION TERM CONTRACT - ANNUAL UPDATE  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment 
 

16. ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2019/20 AND RELATED 
FUNDING OF HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Chamberlain  
 

17. OUTSTANDING REFERENCES  
The Sub Committee received a list of outstanding references. 
 

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
There was no other business. 
 

19. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Part I of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item No.      Paragraph No. 
20       3 
21 - 23      3,7 
24       - 
 

20. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting on 1 December 2020 
be agreed as a correct record. 
 

21. BANK STATION UPGRADE - CANNON STREET ENTRANCE S278  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built 
Environment. 
 

22. BUILDING I HVM MEASURES  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built 
Environment. 
 

Page 10



 

 

23. 21 MOORFIELDS AND FORE STREET AVENUE SECTION 278  
The Sub Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built 
Environment. 
 

24. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD 
BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was other business. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 1.05 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 

 
Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee 
Joseph.Anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
Corporate Projects Board - for decision 
Streets and Walkways - for decision 
Projects Sub - for decision 
Court of Common Council 

Dates: 

31 March 2021 
29 April 2021 
17 May 2021 
17 June 2021 

Subject:  
Pedestrian Priority Programme 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 

12269 

Gateway 2: 
Project Proposal 
Complex 

Report of: 
Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:   
Averil Pittaway, City Transportation  

PUBLIC 
 

1. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Project Description: A three year programme implementing 
pedestrian priority and pavement widening schemes across the 
Square Mile to enhance the comfort and safety of people 
walking.  

Next Gateway: Gateway 3/4 - Options Appraisal (Regular)  

Funding Source: Capital Bid (£6M from Climate Action Strategy 
funding) and S106 (£150K) (both confirmed) 

 

Next Steps:  

For Year 1 proposals: 

• Review feedback and data monitoring for each street 
intervention from the COVID-19 Transportation project 

• Undertake engagement with affected businesses and 
stakeholder groups 

• Equalities Analysis was undertaken for the COVID-19 
Transportation response which determined that there would be 
impacts on some protected characteristic groups resulting from 
the changes to street access.  This will be reviewed and 
updated to provide a detailed assessment at the next gateway.  

• Progress the design for each street, modifying from the 
COVID-19 temporary layouts where necessary, to take into 
account feedback and other network implications 

• Develop a monitoring strategy including collecting data on air 
quality, journey time impacts, traffic counts on the surrounding 
road network and public consultation approach  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



v.April 2019 

• Progress third party approval where required with 
neighbouring boroughs and Transport for London (TMAN) 

• Gateway 3/4 in July 2021 for Year 1 schemes 

 

Requested Decisions:  

 

1. That budget of £199,000 is approved to reach the next 
Gateway for Year 1 interventions; 

2. Note the total estimated cost of the programme at £6 - £8 
million (excluding risk); 

3. Note the total estimated cost of Year 1 of the programme 
at £2.5 - £3.2million; 

4. Delegate from Court of Common Council to Streets and 
Walkways and Project Sub Committees for all future 
report decisions;  

5. Note the methodology set out in paragraphs 12.1 below to 
prioritise City streets for improvements; 

6. Approve the streets to be included in Year 1 of the 
programme, set out in paragraph 5.7;  

7. Approve the Programme reporting plan; 
8. For Year 1 only, approve the submission of combined 

Gateway 3/4 reports as the next gateway (for the reasons 
set out in paragraph 5.9); 

9. For Year 1 only, authorise the Director of Built 
Environment, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of Streets and Walkways and Projects 
Sub, to approve the Gateway 5 report (for the reasons set 
out in paragraph 5.9; and   

10. That delegated authority is given to the Director of the 
Built Environment, in consultation with the Chamberlain, to 
make any adjustments between elements of the project 
budget. 

 

2. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

 Cost (£) 

Staff costs 

(P&T) 

Year 1 project 
development, 
monitoring 
plan, project 
management, 
consultation 

S106 £61,000 

Staff costs 
(Engineering) 

Highways 
design work  

S106 £42,000 

Page 14



v.April 2019 

Fees Equalities 
Assessments, 
Road Safety 
Audits, 
surveys, 
consultancy 
support 

S106/ 
Central 
Funding  

£86,000 

  

Works Costs for 
removal of 
temporary 
materials to 
aid surveys  

 
Central 
Funding  

£10,000 

Total   £199,000 

  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £0 (as 
detailed in the Risk Register – Appendix 2)  
 
The Planning and Transportation staff costs include a full time 
Project Manager, developing the monitoring plan and undertaking 
engagement with stakeholders. Highways staff costs reflect the 
cost of an engineer for three months full time undertaking detailed 
design.  
 
Fees include undertaking highways investigation works for streets 
where footway widening is proposed, undertaking Equalities 
Assessments and Road Safety Audits. Provision has also been 
made for consultancy support on engagement particularly on 
engagement with protected characteristics groups. Some 
provision for consultancy support on Project Management is also 
included given staff resource limitations.  
 
A small amount for works is included to cover Contractor support 
in removing and reinstating temporary materials to enable the 
investigation work to be undertaken.  
 

Page 15



v.April 2019 

3. Governance 
arrangements 

• Service Committee: Streets and Walkways Sub-
Committee 

• Senior Responsible Officer: Leah Coburn, Major 
Projects Group Manager 

• Project Board: No  

3.1 A programme working party will be established with 
attendees from City Public Realm, Highways, Open 
Spaces, City of London Police, Planning and Climate 
Strategy.  
 

3.2 Although the programme is valued at over £5m which 
requires Court of Common Council approval, individual 
yearly programmes will be in the order of £2-£3 million 
each. It is recommended that future report approvals are 
delegated to Streets and Walkways and Project Sub 
Committees to ensure efficiency of project delivery.  

 
3.3 A report will be submitted to Resource Allocation Sub 

Committee to seek approval to draw on the £50,547 Capital 
funding for work to proceed to Gateway 3 /4. 

 
Project Summary 
 

4. Context 
 

4.1 Pre-COVID-19, pavement crowding was an issue in many 
parts of the City and, without change, was forecast to 
increase as the City’s working poulation increased. 
Pavement crowding is still expected to be an issue in the 
future, despite the impacts of COVID-19, including safely 
accommodating the increase in footfall resulting from new 
developments, particulary in and on routes to the City 
Cluster.  
 

4.2 This has implications for: 

• Safety – as people are often forced to walk in the 
carriageway and are at greater risk of being involved in a 
collision. 

• Comfort – overcrowding on pavements can make walking 
uncomfortable and an unpleasant experience  

• Accessibility – some disabled people will be 
uncomfortable and potentially excluded by too narrow or 
overcrowded pavements  

• Emissions reduction – the Climate Action Strategy 
identifies pedestrian priority and improved pedestrian 
comfort as necessary conditions for Net Zero by 2050       

 
4.3 The 2017 City Streets survey found that 84% of people 

thought the City’s pavements were overcrowded, 60% 
thought that people walking were given too small a share 

Page 16



v.April 2019 

of street space and 65% thought the needs of people 
walking were underprioritised. 

 
4.4 Walking is the main mode of travel in the Square Mile. 

90% of on-street journeys that start or finish in the Square 
Mile are walked, including walking to and from public 
transport. Walking is the most common form of transport 
for disabled Londoners, with 78% reporting they walk at 
least once a week. 65% of disbaled Londoners consider 
the condition of pavements to be a barrier to walking more 
frequently. 

 
COVID-19 
 

4.5 Many pavements in the City are too narrow to allow 
adequate social distancing during the COVID-19 
pandemic. A project was therefore intiatied in Spring 2020 
that delivered a number of temporary on-street 
interventions to reallocate space to walking (and cycling) 
to support the City’s COVID-19 recovery. 
 

4.6 This project reported to Planning and Transportation 
Committee given its high profile and relationship with 
other COVID-19, return to office measures.  

 
4.7 A G6 report was taken to Planning and Transportation 

Committee in April 2021 seeking approval to close this 
project and retain some of the measures as experimental 
schemes across a number of programmes. 
 

4.8 This Pedestrian Priority Programme will incorporate the 
largest portion of these on-street changes in its first year 
of delivery. The remaining retained COVID-19 changes 
will be incorporated into the Cycling Programme (where 
significant cycling improvements are required and there is 
limited scope or need for pavement widening) and the City 
Cluster Programme (where streets fall within this 
programme area). 

 
Strategy Delivery 
 

4.9 The programme will directly help deliver the Transport 
Strategy and Climate Action Strategy. 
 

4.10 The related walking Transport Strategy outcomes are that 
by 2044, at least 55km of streets in the City (which 
equates to half of all streets) provide priority to people 
walking. All pavements will have a minimum Pedestrian 
Comfort Level of B+. 
 

4.11 The Climate Action Strategy, which was adopted in 
September 2020, sets out that pedestrian comfort levels 

Page 17



v.April 2019 

of A+ and an additional 20km of timed street closures are 
required to reach Net Zero by 2050. It also stats that the 
public realm needs to be more climate change ready with 
more green spaces and urban greening.  
 

4.12 The programme will also help deliver the Recovery 
Taskforce workstream: Accelerate our plans to make our 
streets safer and more accessible, prioritise people 
walking and improve the experience of cycling  

 

5. Brief 
description of 
project  

 
Programme Description 

 
5.1 This programme will co-ordinate a number of projects 

where pedestrian priority schemes will be developed and 
delivered on individual or groups of streets (subject to 
approval and all necessary consents and orders being first 
obtained).  
 

5.2 The programme would see pedestrian priority and 
pavement widening interventions initiated annually over 
the three years. 
 
A prioritisation exercise of all City streets (see Section 12) 
was undertaken based on volumes of pedestrians, air 
quality, footway widths and road safety statistics, to 
provide a list of priority streets for the programme. 

 
5.3 The list of priority streets has been further filtered to  those 

streets that already have COVID-19 measures in place, to 
be delivered in Year 1. This allows change to be delivered 
at pace for the first year of implementation and continue to 
provide space for people walking and cycling on their 
return to work to the City in mid-2021.  

 
Proposed Schemes 
 

5.4 This programme will: 
 

• For Year 1, consider the retention of  the majority of the 
pedestrian priority interventions that have been delivered 
as part of the COVID-19 transport response. If this report 
is approved, officers will start the process of assessing 
and modifying the on-street interventions to explore 
whether their continuation should be promoted after the 
Temporary Traffic Orders expire (they are in place for a 
maximum period of 18 months).  

 

• Deliver further schemes to introduce pedestrian priority 
and improve pedestrian comfort levels based on those 
ranked highest in the prioritisation exercise  
 

Page 18



v.April 2019 

• Look to incorporate Public Realm improvements and 
Climate Cooling and Resilience measures being 
developed via a parallel Climate Strategy funded 
workstream. This may include planting and pilot projects 
for trialling of new materials and Sustainable Urban 
Drainage systems (SUDS)  
 

5.5 The type of interventions required on each street to 
provide pedestrian priority will vary depending on the 
street context and level of change required, but could 
include a number of the following; 
- Pavement widening 
- Timed access restrictions for vehicles 
- Bus and cycle gates/restriction of general traffic 
- Changes to the street layout 
- Changes to traffic flow/direction of traffic 
- Traffic calming and carriageway narrowing 
- Retention and expansion of planters and parklets 

temporarily where these are already colocated as part 
of the COVID-19 measures  

 
5.6 For Years 2 and 3 these this might also include; 

- Raised carriageways 
- Public Realm enhancements including tree planting, 

greening, seating and paving improvements 
 

5.7 For Year 1 interventions, the following streets will be 
progressed (locations can be seen in the map in Appendix 
6). All of these curently have temporary interventions in 
place as listed in the table. These will be reviewed and 
refined for the Gateway 3/4 report. 
 

Location Current measures - To be reviewed 
before implementation of any 
experimental traffic order   

Pedestrian Priority Programme 

Chancery Lane 
between Carey 
Street & 
Southampton 
Buildings 

• Current restriction is “No motor 
vehicles” restriction (Monday to 
Friday between 7am – 7pm) except 
emergency services, refuse 
collection and local authority service 
vehicles. 

• Parking bay suspended in places 

• Planters and parklets 
  

Cheapside east 
of Bread Street 

• Point “no entry” except buses, 
cycles, emergency services vehicles 
and London Buses incident 
response unit.  

• Planters and seating adjacent to 
point closure 

Page 19



v.April 2019 

Cheapside (east 
of King Street) 
and Poultry 

• “No motor vehicles restriction” 
(Monday to Friday between 7am – 
7pm) except buses, vehicles 
accessing off street premises, for 
refuse collection, emergency 
services, local authority service 
vehicles and London Buses incident 
response unit. 

 

Coleman Street 
and King’s Arms 
Yard 

• “No motor vehicles” restriction 
(Monday to Friday between 7am – 
7pm) except buses, vehicles 
accessing off street premises, for 
refuse collection, emergency 
services and local authority service 
vehicles. 

• Parking bays suspended in locations 
to enable location of parklets  

• Pedestrian priority signage  
 

King William 
Street & 
Abchurch Lane 
(south) 

• “No motor vehicles” restriction 
(Monday to Friday between 7am – 
7pm) except buses, loading, vehicles 
accessing off street premises, for 
refuse collection, emergency 
services, local authority service 
vehicles and London Buses incident 
response unit. 

• Footway widening in locations 
 

Lothbury, 
Bartholomew 
Lane, 
Threadneedle 
Street & Old 
Broad Street 
(south) 

• One way working, contra-flow 
cycling 

• Footway widening 

• Loading bays 

Old Broad Street  • Footway widening works retained 
and access/timing for servicing to be 
retained  

Old Jewry • Full closure (except for pedal cycles) 
on Old Jewry between Cheapside 
and Frederick’s Place 

• Remainder of Old Jewry from 
Frederick’s Place to Gresham Street 
converted to two-way 

King Street  • One way working, contra-flow 
cycling 

• Footway widening 

• Loading bay in Gresham Street 

Page 20



v.April 2019 

Fleet Street, St 
Pauls 
Churchyard 

• Footway widening (Fleet St) 

• Provision of cycle lanes in one or 
both directions  

 
5.8 The overall value of this programme of work, and with a 

medium level of risk, puts the programme into the 
‘Complex’ reporting route. Breaking this into individual 
years however puts this into the ‘Regular’ reporting route.  
For Year 1, each of the on-street changes will be 
amending the existing temporary changes which are on-
street, and therefore the risk is reduced considerably. 
Some of the interventions will be modified slightly 
following further investigations but these are not expected 
to be significant.  

 
5.9 In order to be in a position to have the experiments in 

place by the time the majority of workers return to the 
office, we are requesting to proceed to a combined 
Gateway 3 / 4 for July’s reporting cycle. With the limited 
Streets and Walkways meeting dates and the Summer 
recess, we are also requesting that the Gateway 5 
approval for Streets and Walkways and Projects Sub 
Committees is delegated.  
 

5.10 For Year 1, the intention is that projects will be first 
implemented using Experimental Traffic Orders. If the 
experiments are successful following further monitoring 
and public consultation then approval to make Orders 
permanent would be by the Streets and Walkways and 
Projects Sub Committees. 
  

6. Consequences 
if project not 
approved 

6.1 The Transport Strategy and Climate Action Strategy both 
have targets to significantly increase the amount of 
pedestrian priority streets and achieve high levels of 
pedestrian comfort across the Square Mile. The Climate 
Action Strategy identifies pedestrian priority and improved 
pedestrian comfort as necessary conditions for Net Zero 
to be achieved. Without this programme, it will be difficult 
for these targets to be realised. 
 

6.2 Without a programme to co-ordinate any individual 
pedestrian priority schemes recommended, interventions 
may become disjointed and unaligned. Momentum may 
also be lost to generate the level of change to City streets 
that the Transport Strategy and Climate Action Strategy 
require.  

 

7. SMART project 
objectives 

7.1 The overarching programme objectives are:  
 

1) Increase the number of kilometres of new pedestrian 
priority streets and total length of pedestrian priority 

Page 21



v.April 2019 

streets (Climate Action Strategy and Transport Strategy 
targets) 

2) Increase the length of City streets with pedestrian comfort 
level of A+, and lengths of street with pedestrian comfort 
level of at least B+ (Climate Action Strategy and Transport 
Strategy targets) 

3) Increase the percentage of people rating the experience 
of walking in the City as pleasant (Transport Strategy 
target and measured through the City Streets survey) 
 

7.2 SMART targets will be dependent on the exact 
interventions identified for the priority streets in the three 
year programme. SMART targets for the above objectives 
will be provided for each scheme as they come forward 
within the programme.  

8. Key benefits 
8.1 An improved walking environment that provides adequate 

space for people walking which, along with improving the 
quality of the City streets and public realm, contributes to 
the continued success of the Square Mile as a global 
centre for business, place to live and visitor destination.  
 

8.2 Improved safety of people walking by reducing conflicts 
with vehicles and making streets easier to cross.  
 

8.3 A more accessible Square Mile where everyone will feel 
more able and confident to walk on City streets   

 
8.4 Reducing the exposure of people walking to air pollution 

and contributing to overall emission reductions in the City.  
 

8.5 Public Realm enhancements to improve the look and feel 
of the City and introduce greening and seating where 
appropriate. 

9. Project category 
5. Other priority developments 
 

10. Project priority A. Essential 

11. Notable 
exclusions 

Other major interventions, such as the All Change at Bank 
project, will continue with their pre-existing Gateway processes 
but will be coordinated with this programme. 

 
Options Appraisal 
 

12. Overview of 
options 

12.1 A comprehensive assessment process was undertaken to 
prioritise streets most suited for inclusion in the 
programme. The exercise began by listing all streets in the 
City of London, taken from the streets gazetteer. Following 
this, all private roads and streets managed by Transport 
for London (TLRN) were removed, leaving 361 streets to 
be assessed.  
 

Page 22



v.April 2019 

12.2 Categories for assessment were then set, encompassing 
the following criteria (which aligned with the overall 
objectives of the programme), each street was provided a 
value in the following six categories; 

 
1. A general officer ‘sift’, based on long term experience of 

the operation of City streets, scoring every street from 1 to 
6, where 1 is high priority and 6 is low.  

 
2. Pedestrian morning peak forecast flows taken from the 

2026 City of London Pedestrian Model. 
 

3. Air Quality model values were taken from the London 
Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (LAEI) 2016 emissions 
map. This data was used as it was the only source 
available which could provide a value for each street. 

 
4. The number of pedestrian and cyclist casualties per 

square metre was calculated for each street. This included 
casualties from the last 5 years only.  

 
5. A value for the average footway width on each street 

 
6. A value for the narrowest footway width on each street 

 
12.3 Following allocation of these datasets for each street, it 

was decided that a weighted average would be used to 
arrive at an overall ‘score’ for each street. In order to do 
this, a percentage of weighting was allocated to each 
category. A number of weighting combinations were tested 
to gauge the effectiveness of the methodology, before a 
final weighting was settled on, as below. The outcomes of 
these tests were assessed by an officer group for 
Transportation and compared against streets identified for 
interventions in the Transport Strategy and in the COVID-
19 measures work that was completed in April 2020.  

 

Category Weighting applied 

Officer scoring 15% 

Pedestrian model flows 12.5% 

Air Quality model 12.5% 

Casualties per square metre 20% 

Mean footway width 20% 

Minimum footway width 20% 

 
12.4 Applying this weighting resulted in a final list of streets 

prioritised in order of importance, which underwent a 
further round of ‘sense checking’ by officers. Many of the 
streets scoring in the highest priority were noted as being 
locations in which recent interventions have been 

Page 23



v.April 2019 

undertaken either as part of the City of London’s COVID-
19 measures, or other ongoing programmes of work.  

 
12.5 Next steps will review and refine the existing COVID-19 

measures, which may identify various options for some of 
the measures, 
 

12.6 This methodology will be used to proritise future year 
projects.    

 

 
Project Planning 
 

13. Delivery period 
and key dates 

Overall programme: April 2021 – July 2024  

Key dates:  

Programme Initiation: April 2021 

Delivery of Year 1 Programme: From July 2021 

• The first Year 1 G3/4 aiming for July 2021. Gateway 5 
approvals to be delegated   

• Statutory consultation to start once Experimental Traffic 
Orders are in place (6 month minimum) 

• Monitoring of interventions to run parallel with consultation 
(traffic counts, air quality data, journey time impacts)  

Programme report: April 2022 (with update and approval for Year 
2 street list) 

Delivery of Year 2 Programme: From July 2022  

• The first Year 2 G3/4 and 3/4/5 reports aiming for July 2022 
with further gateway approvals through the year as required 

Programme report: April 2023 (with update and approval for Year 
3 street list) 

Delivery of Year 3 Programme: From July 2023  

• Year 3 G3/4 and 3/4/5 reports: July 2023 

Programme report: April 2024  

 
13.1 Further details of the proposed programme reporting can be 

seen in Appendix 3.  
 

13.2 Key dates for specific street interventions will be set out in 
the Gateway reports for those projects as it is most likely 
interventions will be progressed at different rates due to 
varying scales of change, number of options, traffic impact 
and level of consultation required.  

Other works dates to coordinate:  

Page 24



v.April 2019 

13.3 There is a considerable amount of coordination required 
between this programme and other City and third party 
works.  
 

13.4 Notable interdependencies relate to the changes at Bank 
Junction, around the Crossrail Stations and with Transport 
for London’s temporary measures on Bishopsgate.  

 
13.5 All of the interdependent City highways projects are 

managed within the same Division and coordinated through 
regular meetings. Conversations are ongoing regarding 
opportunities for collaborative work with the Climate Cooling 
and Resilience programme.  

 
13.6 Officers are continuing to hold regular coordination 

meetings with Transport for London to discuss Bishopsgate 
and London Bridge. 
 

13.7 It is intended to repurpose the existing Bronze COVID-19 
Transportation Measures group, which meets weekly with 
officers from Highways, City Public Realm and 
Transportation, to a monthly meeting to discuss this 
programme going forward.  

 

14. Risk 
implications 

Overall project risk: Medium  

The main risk implications for the programme and associated 
schemes are: 

- Resourcing: Not being able to deliver the number of 
schemes that is expected of the programme  

- The risk that traffic orders are not made following 
consideration of any objections and assessment of the 
experimental orders and their impacts  

- Engagement and external support: Issues with external 
engagement and buy-in 

- Legal Issues: Receiving legal challenges regarding the 
decision to proceed with agreed schemes 

- COVID-19: Unknown what permanent/long term 
change it will bring about for Central London and travel 
trends and behaviour that may impact the programmes 
objectives 

- Delays to release of central funding bid may impact 
progress of Year 1 programme  

A Risk Register is included in Appendix 2.   

15. Stakeholders 
and consultees 

The key stakeholders and consultees consist of: 

• Occupiers and businesses 

• City workers and residents  

• City Business Improvement Districts and Partnerships 

• Ward members  

Page 25



v.April 2019 

• Transport for London 

• Emergency services 

A stakeholder engagement plan has been developed and is 
included at Appendix 5   

 
Resource Implications 
 

16. Total estimated 
cost  

Likely cost range (excluding risk): £6million to £8million 
depending on availability of additional funding.  

Likely cost range (including risk): N/A 

17. Funding 
strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Choose 1: 

All funding fully guaranteed 

Choose 1: 

Mixture - some internal and 
some external funding 

Funds/Sources of Funding 
Cost (£) 

Capital bid funding 
£6,000,000 

S106 
£   148,453 

Total £6,148 453 

 
17.1 The Year 1 budget envelope is estimated at £2.5 to 

£3.2million. 
 
17.2 A capital bid for £6million in 2021/22 annual capital bids 

process was successful and has now been confirmed by 
the Court of Common Council. Approval to draw on this 
funding for Year 1 interventions will be made by the 
Chamberlains department via a report to RASC to enable 
work to proceed to Gateway3 /4. A further report will be 
needed following further approvals to deliver the Year 1 
interventions.   
 

17.3 In December 2020, a report was taken to Planning and 
Transportation Committee to allocate S106 funding to a 
series of Transportation and Public Realm projects.  This 
confirmed an additional £148,453 of funding to this project. 
The details of the agreements are contained at Appendix 4.  

18. Investment 
appraisal 

Not applicable  

19. Procurement 
strategy/route 
to market 

19.1 It is expected that most schemes within the programme will 
be developed and designed by the City Transportation, City 
Public Realm and Highways teams.  
 

19.2 Any additional resources, consultancy work and physical 
works required will be procured through Highways JB 
Rineys contract and/or the City Transportation and Public 
Realm Consultancy Framework.  The JB Rineys term 
contract is due to expire in mid-2022 and any work 

Page 26



v.April 2019 

undertaken after that date will be completed by the 
successful next term contractor.  

20. Legal 
implications 

20.1 In exercising traffic authority functions regard must be had 
to the duties to secure expeditious convenient and safe 
movement of traffic (having regard to effects on amenities) 
(S.122 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984), and to secure 
the efficient use of the road network avoiding congestion 
and disruption (S.16 Traffic Management Act 2004)   

21. Corporate 
property 
implications 

None 

22. Traffic 
implications 

22.1 A number of the interventions are likely to restrict vehicles 
or reduce road capacity for motor traffic. A full assessment 
will be undertaken on any scheme that significantly affects 
motor traffic, to understand the implications for local access 
and through traffic. Many of the schemes will begin as 
experiments, in order to gather data and further understand 
any impacts while traffic levels settle to a steady state post 
COVID-19.   

 
22.2 Where appropriate, Transport for London will be engaged 

with and TMAN approvals sought on schemes where there 
is significant impact on the Transport for London Road 
Network (TLRN) or the Strategic Road Network. 

23. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications 

23.1 The programme will seek to include appropriate greening 
and SuDs and Climate Resilience test sites as outlined in 
the Climate Action Strategy. 

24. IS implications None 

25. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

25.1 The Equalities Analysis undertaken for the COVID-19 
Transportation response will be reviewed and updated to 
provide a detailed assessment at the next gateway.  

26. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

26.1 The risk to personal data is less than high or non-applicable 
and a data protection impact assessment will not be 
undertaken 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Project Briefing 

Appendix 2 Risk Register 

Appendix 3 Programme Reporting Plan  

Appendix 4 S106 Funding Strategy 

Appendix 5 Stakeholder Engagement Plan 

Appendix 6 Year 1 Street Location Map 
 

Contact 
 

Report Author Averil Pittaway 

Email Address Averil.pittaway@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

 

Page 27

mailto:Averil.pittaway@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
Corporate Projects Board - for decision 
Projects Sub - for decision 
Streets & Walkways Sub Committee – for decision 
Planning & Transportation Committee- for information 
Open Spaces and City Gardens Committee – for information 

Dates: 

31 March 2021 
14 April 2021 
29 April 2021 
12 May 2021 
27 April 2021 

Subject:  Climate Action Strategy - Cool Streets and Greening 
Programme 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 

PV ID 12267 

Gateway 1& 2: 
Project Proposal 
Regular 

Report of: 
Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Janet Laban 

PUBLIC 
 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Project Description:  Cool Streets and Greening is a Climate 
Action Strategy programme to develop climate resilient streets 
and open spaces in the Square Mile.  

This project aligns with the City’s Corporate Plan and 
Responsible Business Strategy and contributes to the City 
Corporation’s preparation for the UN climate conference 
COP26. It will assist in implementation of climate measures in 
the emerging City Plan 2036 and Transport Strategy whilst 
supporting the City’s aspiration to develop culture and 
commerce in parallel in the coming decades. 

Funding Source: Members agreed funding for this work 
through the Climate Action Strategy in Oct 2021. The specific 
funding source for this work is the Department of the Built 
Environment On-Street Parking Revenue (DBE - OSPR) 

Next Gateway: Gateway 3/4 - Options Appraisal (Regular) 

Once suitable pilot sites have been identified and prioritised a 
Gateway 3 / 4 report will seek approval for implementation of 
resilience measures on specific sites later in year 1. 

In subsequent years, the implementation of resilience 
measures will be at sites where other works are planned. Full 
Gateway approvals will be sought for each site with suitable 
climate resilience measures being incorporated within the 
normal project approval process.  

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 
 

v.April 2019 

Next Steps: 

Year 1 (2021/22) of the Cool Streets and Greening project will 
involve: 

Set up Climate Resilience Steering Group Terms of Reference 

• Programme development & governance 

• Opportunity mapping and data gap analysis 

• Data collection & analysis protocols  

• Develop criteria for funding of resilience measures 

Steering Group Review - programme 

• Draft technical resilience measures guidance 

• Site identification and prioritisation 

• Baseline heat, flood and Urban Greening Factor 
monitoring 

Steering Group review – sites, measures & data - subject to 
Gateway 3/4 approvals for pilot sites 

• Plan implementation of heat and flooding resilience 
measures on 4-7 pilot sites 

• Model impacts for 4-7 sites 

• Implement climate resilience measures on 4-7 pilot sites 

• Monitor impacts 

Steering Group review – implementation and impacts 

Years 2,3 & 4 2022 to 2025- Further resilience measures will 
be implemented in a minimum of 20 sites based on the 
evaluation at the pilot sites. 

 

Requested Decisions: 

 

1. That budget of £320K is approved for  

• Programme framework development (4-year 
programme)  

• Climate resilience measures catalogue 

• Installation of smart sensors and data protocols 
for monitoring 

• Opportunity mapping and gap analysis for climate 
resilience solutions 

• Identification and prioritisation of sites. 
This is a capitalised resource against the proceeding capital 
works. 

2. Note the total estimated cost of the Cool Streets and 
Greening project at £1.7M for Year 1. The remaining 
funds will be for installation of resilience measures in 
priority sites and will be subject to Gateway 3,4 & 5 
approvals 

3. Note that the likely cost range for the Cool Streets & 
Greening 4-year programme will be an estimated £1.7M 
per annum over 4 years – Total £6.8M 

Page 30



 
 

v.April 2019 

2. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

Costs £ 

 Framework 
development 

Consultant 
support in 
designing 
programme 

Climate 
Action 
Strategy 
(CAS) 
funding 

DBE - On 
Street 
Parking 
Reserve 
(OSPR) 

50K 

 

 

 

 

Resilience 
measures 
catalogue 

Consultant 
support in 
development 
of technical 
catalogue of 
resilience 
measures 

CAS 
funding 

DBE OSPR 

10K 

 

 

Smart 
sensors and 
monitoring 

Installation of 
smart sensors 
for flood and 
heat 
monitoring 
including 
ongoing 
maintenance 

CAS 
funding 

DBE-OSPR 

85K 

Data 
collection & 
analysis  

Consultant 
support in 
smart 
monitoring, 
analysis and 
interpretation 
and reporting 
of results & 
KPIs  

CAS 
funding 

DBE-OSPR 

20K 

Opportunity 
mapping & 
data gap 
analysis 

 

Consultant 
support 

 

CAS 
funding 

DBE-OSPR 

 

75K 

Page 31



 
 

v.April 2019 

Site 
identification 
and 
prioritisation 

Consultant 
support 

CAS 
funding 

DBE-OSPR 

30K 

Staff costs 

Site 
identification 
and 
prioritisation 

Public Realm/ 
Highways/ 
Open spaces 
staff 

CAS 
Funding 

DBE-OSPR 

50K 

Staff costs 

Cool Streets 
& greening 
workstream 
management 

Environmental 
resilience team 
currently 
funded until 
Sept 2021 
thereafter to 
be funded 
through the 
Mainstreaming 
Resilience 
workstream  

Environmen
tal 
Resilience 
Team 

100K 
funded 
from 
existing 
budgets 

Total cost for this Gateway 320K 

  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway:  
£0(as detailed in the Preliminary Risk Register – Appendix 2) 
 

3. Governance 
arrangements 

• The service committee for this project is the Streets & 
Walkways Committee 

• A cross departmental Climate Resilience Steering 
Group, chaired by the District Surveyor and 
Environmental Resilience Director, will oversee 
recommendations on procurement, project prioritisation, 
budgets, timetable and reporting, through quarterly 
meetings. 

• The Senior Responsible Officer for this project is the 
District Surveyor and Environmental Resilience Director 
(Gordon Roy)  

• The Project Manager for this project will be the Senior 
Sustainability & Lead Environmental Resilience Officer 
(Janet Laban) who will be supported by the 
Environmental Resilience team the City Public Realm 
team, and the City Transportation team,  working with 
highways, transport and open spaces officers on 
individual implementation projects within this 
workstream. 

Page 32



 
 

v.April 2019 

• Year 1 will be undertaken by the Environmental 
Resilience team which is a small team using design 
thinking and agile work practices to achieve results (see 
appendix 3). The team will work in partnership with 
officers from other parts of the Environment Service 
Area in the new Target Operating Model. 

• Some activities will require partnership working with 
organisations such as the British Geological Survey, 
Thames Water and the Environment Agency. Such 
activities will be undertaken with the relevant 
confidentiality agreements and memorandums of 
understanding in place. 

 

 
 
Project Summary 
 

4. Context 4.1 The City’s Climate Action Strategy identifies the need to 
adapt to a changing climate where we will experience 
hotter drier summers, warmer wetter winters, sea level 
rise and more extreme weather events. 

4.2 The climate risks that the City faces include 
overheating, flooding, water scarcity, biodiversity loss, 
increases in pests and diseases and disruption to food 
and trade. 

4.3 The City of London Adaptive Pathways report prepared 
for the City Corporation by Buro Happold demonstrates 
the importance of beginning now to incorporate 
resilience actions into the Square Mile. 

4.4 The funding for the Climate Action Strategy was agreed 
in Oct 2020 by Court of Common Council. Individual 
tranches of funding will be the subject of Resource 
Allocation Sub Committee approval as appropriate. 

5. Brief description 
of project  

5.1 This Gateway 2 project is the first phase of a wider 
programme of work to improve the resilience of the 
City’s streets and spaces to climate change. 

5.2 This phase will identify opportunities, set an evaluation 
framework, gather baseline information including from 
smart sensors and identify and prioritise sites for 
installation of climate resilience measures such as 
sustainable drainage (SuDS) and heat resilient 
materials. 

5.3 The wider project addresses the range of actions 
agreed through the City’s Climate Action Strategy to 
address climate risks for the City’s streets including: 

• Flood modelling 

• Heat resistant materials testing 

• Water footprint and leakage management 

Page 33



 
 

v.April 2019 

• Natural flood management and sustainable drainage 
(SuDS) 

• Greening and climate resilient planting. 
5.4 Subject to Gateway 3/4/5 approval the wider project will 

install and evaluate measures and techniques to 
address the climate challenges that the City faces. 

5.5 The measures that are found to be effective will then be 
incorporated into the City’s design guidance providing a 
roadmap to 2080 for a climate resilient public realm. 
This aligns with the Climate Action Strategy adapting to 
climate change diagram – best case by 2080 

5.6 Ongoing maintenance of the climate resilience 
measures will be secured through a commuted sum 
associated with each implementation project to be 
included at Gateway 3 / 4 /5.The amount of the 
commuted sum will be included in each project cost and 
be funded from the Climate Action funding sources. 

 

6 Consequences 
if project not 
approved 

6.1 The City’s climate is changing. We need to adapt the 
City’s environment to hotter drier summers, warmer 
wetter winters, sea level rise and more frequent extreme 
weather events.  

6.2 The high cost of reacting to rather than preparing for 
climate change is well recognised1.  

6.3 The Climate Resilience Adaptive Pathways study 
completed for the City Corporation by Buro Happold in 
2020 identified the measures that we need to implement   
now to ensure that we are ready for the future climate. 

6.4 If this project is not approved, we will miss the 
opportunity to prepare for the inevitable change in the 
climate resulting in increased climate risks, higher 
insurance costs through lack of preparedness and 
higher costs of action. 

6.5 Some actions from the recently adopted statutory Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) could be 
compromised if we fail to progress this project.  

7 SMART project 
objectives 

Vision: The Square Mile and City Corporation assets 
elsewhere are an exemplar of climate resilience, pre-empting 
inevitable climate related risks and impacts, providing a model 
for others to follow. 

Climate Action Strategy Objectives:  

• The City of London Corporation and its assets are 
resilient to climate change 

• The Square Mile’s buildings, public spaces and 
infrastructure are resilient to climate change 

                                                 
1 Stern Review Report on the Economics of Climate Change 

Page 34

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407172811/http:/www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/stern_review_report.htm


 
 

v.April 2019 

• People in the Square Mile and beyond benefit from a 
clean, green and safe environment and job creation 

These objectives were agreed by Court of Common Council on 
8th Oct as part of the City’s Climate Action Strategy (Committee 
report appendix 2) 

The key project objectives for 2021/22 are to 

1) To develop a catalogue of resilience measures and 
assessment methodology for consideration in 
planned public realm, transport, highways and open 
spaces schemes by Q3 2021/22 

2) To map the opportunities and constraints for flood 
and heat resilience interventions in the Square Mile 
by Q3 2021/22. 

3) To identify and prioritise sites for Climate resilience 
interventions by Q3 2021/22 

4) Develop and implement real time baseline 
monitoring infrastructure which will be used to 
evaluate resilience interventions by Q3 2021/22 

5) Identify and design interventions for 4-7 sites by Q3 
2021/22 subject to Gateway 3-4 approval 

6) Implement and monitor resilience measures on 4-7 
sites by Q1 2022/23 subject to Gateway 3-4 approval 

The project level Key Performance Indicators for this project 
will be: 

• Urban Greening Factor for the Square Mile which 
provides a quantifiable measure of the overall level and 
environmental benefit of greening in the City. 

• Area of the Square Mile with Sustainable Drainage 
(SuDS) installed.  

 

8 Key benefits This project covers the ten actions agreed by the Court of 
Common Council on 8th Oct 2020 under the City Climate Action 
Strategy report – nine actions from Appendix 2b Action Area 2 
Resilient Streets and Greening and one action from Action 
Area 4 Resilience co-ordination and training.  

The Key benefits are set out below: 

Action Benefit 

2.1 Flood 
modelling 

Provides accurate, up to date 
information about flood risk in the 
Square Mile 

2.2 Heat resistant 
materials 

Provides pilot results for effective heat 
resilient materials in the public realm 

Page 35



 
 

v.April 2019 

2.3 Water footprint 
management plan 

Identify opportunities to minimise water 
use (and associated cost) and make 
best use of this resource 

2.4 Develop 
natural flood risk 
management 
areas 

Reduces surface water flooding and 
sewer overflows 

2.5 Sustainable 
rain and surface 
water 
management  

Reduce surface water flooding and 
sewer overflows 

2.6 Water leakage 
management 

Minimise water loss through leakage 
through pro active leak detection and 
asset management 

2.7 Increase green 
space 

Climate resilient greening reducing flood 
risk and overheating risk 

2.8 Climate 
resilient planting 

Thriving planting in face of climate 
change 

2.9 External 
funding sources 
review 

Potential partner funding from non-City 
of London sources 

2.10 Engagement 
plans 

Best practice used elsewhere 

4.6 Below ground 
mapping 

Identification of climate resilience 
opportunities 

 The measurable benefits for Gateway 2 will consist of: 

• Framework resilience measures catalogue for flood and 
heat risk and appraisal methodology 

• Mapping (above and below ground) showing constraints 
and opportunities for flood and heat resilience measures 

• Prioritised list of sites that are suitable for climate 
resilience interventions in the Square Mile 

• Network of smart sensors to measure flood and heat 
risk 

• Baseline monitoring of climate resilience indicators 
including Urban Greening Factor for the Square Mile  
 

9 Project category 7a. Asset enhancement/improvement (capital) 

10 Project priority A. Essential 

Page 36



 
 

v.April 2019 

11 Notable 
exclusions 

1 Implementation of buildings related resilience measures 

2 Resilience of privately owned assets and infrastructure  

 
 
Options Appraisal 
 

12 Overview of 
options 

Option 1 – Business as usual. Ad hoc inclusion of climate 
resilience measures in public realm when funds allow. 

Option 2 – Focused programme to install and evaluate climate 
resilience measures in the Square Mile informing a roadmap for 
resilience to 2080. This option could be achieved within the 
requested budget subject to Gateway approvals as appropriate. 

Option 3– extend measures to include open spaces elsewhere. 
This option would provide more comprehensive data on the 
impacts of the climate resilience measures and is particularly 
relevant to surface water management and sewer overflow 
flooding. Additional funding is being sought from the 
Environment Agency’s Innovative Resilience fund (£6M over 6 
years) which would enable extension of this project beyond the 
Square Mile to include City Corporation managed open spaces 
elsewhere. 

Option 2 is the preferred approach since it will progress the 
City Corporation’s adopted Climate Action Strategy climate 
resilience actions. Seeking further funding through Option 3 is 
dependent on the City Corporation progressing Option 2. 

 
Project Planning 
 

13 Delivery period 
and key dates 

Overall project: This project will run from Jan 2021 until 
March 2025 see Gantt chart – Appendix 4. This Gateway 2 
report is seeking approval for the initial phase of year 1 activities. 

Key dates:  

Year 0 Q4 
2020/21 

Partner engagement 

Staff upskilling 

Project plans 

Year 1 Q1-
2021/22 

to 

Q1-
2022/23 

Project design & governance 

Resilience measures catalogue 

Opportunity and constraint mapping 

Smart monitoring infrastructure 

Site identification and prioritisation 

Design and installation for 4-7 no pilot 
schemes  

Page 37



 
 

v.April 2019 

Evaluation and reporting 

Years 
2 & 3 

Q2-
2022/23 

To 

Q1-
2024/25 

Implementation of resilience measures 

• Sustainable drainage SuDS 

• Natural flood management (NFM) 

• Urban greening factor (UGF) 

• Resilient planting 

• Leakage management 

• Heat resilient surfaces 

Year 4  Q2-
2024/25 

To 

Q4-
2024/25 

Review and recommendations 

Development of guidance 

Roadmap for a climate resilient Square 
Mile to 2080 

Other works dates to coordinate: The implementation phase 
of this project will be carried out alongside maintenance cycles 
and improvement to the public realm, highways and open 
spaces Benefits from installation of resilience measures maybe 
realised in adjacent areas e.g. SuDS in open spaces may benefit 
highway run off. Integration with other projects will minimise cost 
and disruption but will require careful planning to ensure 
alignment of dates.  

14 Risk implications Overall project risk: Low  A high level overview of the risks in 
line with the Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register is set 
out in Appendix 2: Risk Register – Costed Risk Provision. 
Further risk assessment will be carried out at the next Gateway 
as the workstream progresses. 

The potential risks at the Gateway 2 stage are as follows: 

• Lack of funding would prevent these actions from 
progressing however the Climate Action Strategy 
commits £1.7M per annum to climate resilience. 

• Contract or partnership problems could delay progress of 
this stage. City procurement and comptrollers will 
oversee contracts and partnership governance 
arrangements. 

• Skills shortages – Skills currently exist in the 
Environmental Resilience Team as secondments with 
consultant support. Measures are underway to secure 
longer term commitment to skilled staffing for climate 
resilience.   

• Smart sensors do not provide suitable data to evaluate 
resilience measures. To mitigate against this contract 
specifications will be drawn up to ensure provision of 
useful data. 

Page 38

https://corpoflondon.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/Intranet/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BACCECFFE-0FC3-4571-9590-E30C608D46AA%7D&file=Risk%20Register%20-%20Draft%200.13.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


 
 

v.April 2019 

• Opportunity mapping might show that there are minimal 
opportunities for resilience measures. An alternative 
approach would then be needed 

The Costed Risk Provision assessment shows that at Gateway 
2 any costs associated with minor risks and do not present a 
threat to the project. 

15 Stakeholders and 
consultees 

PESTLE analysis has been used to identify the relevant 
stakeholders for this project (appendix 5) A stakeholder 
engagement plan is being developed to ensure co-
ordinated messaging across the Climate Action Strategy 
implementation phase.  

 

 

Resource Implications 
 

16 Total estimated 
cost  

Likely cost range (excluding risk) for Gateway 2 Cool 
Streets & Greening: £320K 

Likely cost range for the Cool Streets & Greening 4 year 
programme: £1.7M per annum over 4 years – Total £6.8M 

Likely cost range (including risk): +/- 20% Years 1-4 £5.4M to 
£7.2M (if additional funding is not available to cover the 
shortfall then resilience measures will be implemented on 
fewer sites). 

17 Funding strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Choose 1: 

All funding fully guaranteed 

Choose 1: 

Internal - Funded wholly by 
City's own resource 

Funds/Sources of Funding 
Cost (£) 

Year 0 Climate Action Strategy CAS 
- 

Year 1 CAS* 
2.0M 

Year 2 CAS* 
1.8M 

Year 3 CAS* 
1.6M 

Year 4 CAS* 
1.4M 

 
 

Total 
6.8M 

There is potential for securing additional funding to 
extend this programme. For example, a funding bid has 
been submitted to Defra for their Innovative Resilience 
Fund which if successful would amount to £6M over 6 
years. 

18 Investment 
appraisal 

For the Cool Streets and Greening Gateway 2, an options 
appraisal is not required. This is preliminary work to assess 

Page 39



 
 

v.April 2019 

future options for implementation of climate resilience measures 
which will be assessed at Gateway 3/4 

19 Procurement 
strategy/route to 
market 

Procurement for the Gateway 2 element of this workstream will 
involve specialist consultants and contractors all of which will 
be procured in line with the City’s procurement policies. 
Appendix 6 summarises the Procurement Strategy for the 
lifecycle of the project and further procurement approaches will 
be finalised, in response to the findings of consultants 
appointed at this Gateway.  

Procurement will be overseen by the Climate Action Strategy 
Programme Management Team and the Senior Sustainability 
and Lead Environmental Resilience Officer 

City Procurement Reference Number:  Not required – all 
appointments are below PCR threshold 

20 Legal 
implications 

This project implements actions agreed by the Court of Common 
Council under the Climate Action Strategy. There are no specific 
legal implications at this stage and implications (for example on 
the highway) will be explored at the next stage as more detailed 
proposals are formulated. The Climate Change Act 2008 sets a 
framework for mitigating climate change and for adapting to 
climate change. This Act enshrined into law a target of reducing 
the UK’s carbon account for the year 2050 by at least 100% of 
the 1990 baseline. The Climate Action Strategy as a whole and 
this project, which implements actions agreed by the Court of 
Common Council within it, are compliant with legislation, 
including the Climate Change Act 2008 

21 Corporate 
property 
implications 

Year 1 - None 

Year 2-4 Discussions with Corporate Property team will take 
place during year 1 as sites are identified. Resilience works will 
be aligned with maintenance schedules wherever possible 

22 Traffic 
implications 

1. Resilience interventions in the public realm and highways 
may have traffic implications through the reduction of 
carriageway space for vehicles and pedestrians. 
Implications will be explored at the next stage. 

23 Sustainability 
and energy 
implications 

1.  This project will help to prepare the City for the impacts 
of climate change 

2. Sustainable procurement and circular economy 
principles will be applied to minimise the materials 
impacts of implementation and reduce embodied 
carbon. 

3. During Year 1 of this programme monitoring and 
reporting protocols will be put in place to enable robust 
evaluation of climate impacts including temperature and 
flood risk and evaluation methodologies will be 
developed 

Page 40



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

24 IS implications None. 

25 Equality Impact 
Assessment 

• An equality impact assessment test of relevance will be 
undertaken at each stage of this project and any 
potential issues will be addressed prior to progressing 
the action. 

 

26 Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

• The risk to personal data is less than high or non-
applicable and a data protection impact assessment will 
not be undertaken 

 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Gateway 1 Approval 

Appendix 2 Risk Register  

Appendix 3 Team structure and support 

Appendix 4 Schedule of stages Gantt chart 

Appendix 5 Stakeholder engagement plan 

Appendix 6 Procurement Strategy 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Janet Laban 

Email Address Janet.laban@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 020 7332 1148 or Microsoft Teams call 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



 
 

 

Committees: 
Open Spaces Committee - For decision  
Streets and Walkways Sub Committee – For decision 
Projects Sub Committee– For decision 
 

Dates: 
27 April 2021 

29 April 2021 
17 May 2021 

 
Subject:  

City Cluster Area – Wellbeing and Climate Change Resilience 
Programme Implementation (2021-2024) 

Unique Project Identifier: 

City Cluster Vision Phase one – 12072 

Gateway 4: 
Detailed Options 
Appraisal 
(Regular) 
 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Maria Herrera – City Public Realm  

PUBLIC 

 
 
 

1. Status update Project Description: The implementation of the City Cluster 
area delivery plan is divided between three programmes 
focused on 1) pedestrian priority and traffic reduction, 2) well-
being and climate change resilience and, 3) activation and 
engagement. Each programme will deliver complementary 
improvements, in response to the highest priorities in the area, 
and are being developed in close collaboration with local 
stakeholders.  

This report sets out the details for an outline proposal of 
Programme 2 – Well-being & Climate Change, which is 
proposed to be taken forward to the next Gateway (5) 

RAG Status: Green  

Risk Status: Low  

Total Estimated Cost of Projects (excluding risk): £1.4m-
£1.5m for the implementation of the programme over the next 3 
years.  

Change in Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk):  £765-850k 
reported in July 2020 at Gateway 3. The cost range is proposed 
to be increased in response to: 

• The need to accelerate the delivery of improvements, in line 
with stakeholder needs and funding opportunities, and in 
order to meet the objectives of the Recovery Task Force; 

• The need to take account of increased maintenance 
budgets; 

• The introduction of additional climate resilience measures 
and pilot projects (including monitoring), as part of the 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 

emerging Cool Streets and Greening programme. Along with 
working with specialist consultants on this matter. 

Spend to Date: £57,108 (fees and staff costs)  

Funding source: Section 106 contributions, Cool Streets and 
Greening programme (subject to approval), TfL, and external 
contributions, including S278 and bids for CIL Neighbourhood 
funds.  

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: NA  

Slippage: NA 

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway: Gateway 5  

Projects within the programme will be reported individually at 
Gateway 5 in line with regular reporting processes.  

Next Steps:  

• Continue engagement with stakeholders and occupiers to 
finalise designs. 

• Commission any additional surveys, design work or trial 
holes as required. 

• Produce detailed cost estimates and finalise funding 
sources with the Chamberlain for inclusion in Gateway 5 
reports. 

• Submit Gateway 5 reports for individual projects.  

 

Requested Decisions:  

1. Note the estimated implementation budget is a minimum 
of £1.447m based on current estimates for the projects 
outlined in this report.  

2. Note that the estimated implementation budget will be 
further increased by external sponsorship with the exact 
amount to be confirmed at Gateway 5. 

3. That the 7 projects listed in the Options Appraisal table 
are approved to be taken forward to Gateway 5, at which 
point individual project reports will be submitted for 
approval, in line with the project procedure.   

4. That £90,000 from the Pinnacle and Mitre Square Section 
106 agreements is approved for the programme budget 
to continue the development of the 7 projects to Gateway 
5. 

5. To note that further projects listed in Appendix 1, may be 
developed in future years, subject to funding being 
confirmed.  

6. That within the overall programme budget, funds can be 
moved between the 7 individual projects and between 
staff costs, fees and works to maintain pace of delivery 
and maximum efficiency of the process. 

 

Page 44



 
 

 

3. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 
 

Table 1: Budget required for Programme 2 – Wellbeing 
and Climate Resilience to reach Gateway 5, to reach 
the next gateway approval. 

Description Resources 
required to 
reach next 
Gateway (£) 

Highways Staff Costs 15,000 

P&T Staff Costs  35,000  

Open Spaces Staff Costs 10,000 

Fees and surveys (including detailed 
design, ground investigations and 
trial holes) 30,000  

TOTAL  
                     

90,000 

 

Detailed funding tables are included in Appendix 3. 
 
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: No risk 
provision is required at this stage.  
 

4. Overview of 
project options 

 
The Well-being and Climate Resilience programme objectives 
(agreed at Gateway 3) are as follows:   

• Increase the amount of greenery to help mitigate the 
impacts of climate change, noise and air pollution and 
soften the urban environment.  

• Deliver more accessible and attractive spaces to rest and 
spend time in, including responding to the need for social 
distancing.  

• The creation of ‘green corridors’ along busy pedestrian 
routes.  

• Deliver spaces which offer opportunities for place 
activation in a safe street environment i.e. facilitation of 
Programme 3 - Activation and Engagement.  

• Deliver sustainable urban drainage systems (Suds) in line 
with the emerging Climate Action strategy.  

 
 
Delivery of these objectives will be framed around the following 
themes: 
  

Theme 
(See appendix 1 
and 2) 

Projects (2021-2024)* 

Improvements to 
existing public 
spaces 

1. St Helens Churchyard 
 

Page 45



 
 

 

2. St Andrews Undershaft 
Churchyard 
 
3. Jubilee Gardens 
 

Green Streets 4. Creechurch Lane - Stoney Lane 
  
5. Philpot Lane – Rood Lane 
 
Interim greening measures in the 
short and medium term, due to 
restrictions imposed by development 
activity, with designs to be 
progressed for long-term changes in 
future years. 
 

Climate change 
resilience 
measures 

6.Bevis Marks and Houndsditch 
Suds pilot projects 

 
7. Tree planting across the area 
 

* Other projects will be brought forward as part of further 
phases of the programme and as additional opportunities 
are identified through the Cool Streets and Greening 
programme and other relevant Corporate Strategies and 
programmes. 

 
 
This programme delivers on the activities identified in the 
Recovery Task Force and will focus on the following headline 
workstream:  
 
Outstanding environments (i.e. workspaces, environment, 
infrastructure) 
Activities:  

• Providing high quality gardens and public spaces  
• Enabling unique opportunities to exercise  
• Introducing climate resilience measures into the City’s 
streets and spaces  
• Ensuring streets, gardens and public spaces are clean, 
safe and well maintained  
• Ensuring the Square Mile's streets accessible to all  
• Creating the best urban walking experience  

 
 
Project Options:  

The programme proposals will provide a welcoming and 
pleasant environment to support the recovery of the area, 
following the impacts of the pandemic. The improvement of 
public spaces and introduction of green infrastructure to deliver 
an attractive and inclusive environment, in line with the 

Page 46



 
 

 

objectives of the City Cluster Vision, the Climate Action 
Strategy and the City’s Recovery Taskforce. 

 
A single option is proposed to take forward a series of seven 
small/medium scale projects over the next three years which 
have been developed with stakeholders and in response to the 
City Cluster Vision, Transport Strategy and Climate Action 
Strategy. Details of these projects are set out in the options 
appraisal table and appendix.  
 

5. Recommendation
s 

 

Requested Decisions:  

1. Note the estimated implementation budget is a minimum 
of £1.447m based on current estimates for the projects 
outlined in this report.  

2. Note that the estimated implementation budget will be 
further increased by external sponsorship with the exact 
amount to be confirmed at Gateway 5. 

3. That the 7 projects listed in the Options Appraisal table 
are approved to be taken forward to Gateway 5, at which 
point individual project reports will be submitted for 
approval, in line with the project procedure.   

4. That £90,000 from the Pinnacle and Mitre Square Section 
106 agreements is approved for the programme budget 
to continue the development of the 7 projects to Gateway 
5. 

5. To note that further projects listed in Appendix 1, may be 
developed in future years, subject to funding being 
confirmed. 

6. That within the overall programme budget, funds can be 
moved between the 7 individual projects and between 
staff costs, fees and works to maintain pace of delivery 
and maximum efficiency of the process. 

 

6. Risk 
 
The risks associated with developing the programme up to 
Gateway 5 are low. Projects within this programme are being 
developed in collaboration with local stakeholders, the Open 
Spaces department and DBE officers.  
 
Subsequent development of projects will be reported via 
separate Gateway 5 reports to ensure risks are adequately 
accounted for.  
 
Costed Risk Provision Utilised at Last Gateway: None 
requested at previous gateway report.  
 
Change in Costed Risk: NA 
 

Page 47



 
 

 

Costed Risk requested: NA  
Further information is available in the options appraisal matrix.   
 

7. Procurement 
strategy 

Management and coordination of the programme will be 
undertaken by City Public Ream and Open Spaces officers, in 
consultation with Highways and City Transportation divisions. 
 
Stages of the design work will be undertaken in-house by 
officers and external consultants will be brought in as required 
to provide specialist services. 
 
To date, specialists’ consultants have been appointed for the 
development of the Sustainable urban drainage schemes and 
design work for the improvement of existing public spaces. 
Construction works are to be implemented by the City’s term 
contractor (currently JB Riney), working in collaboration with 
Open Spaces for the delivery of the soft landscaping elements.  
 
Appointment of external consultants will be carried out in line 
with the City’s procurement guidelines for capital projects.  
 

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Programme scope 

Appendix 2 Visuals and maps  

Appendix 3 Funding strategy 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Maria Herrera 

Email Address Maria.herrera@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 07526 201100 

 

Page 48



 
 

 

Options Appraisal Matrix 
 

Option Summary Option 1 

1. Brief description 
of option 

Programme 2 - Wellbeing and Climate Change Resilience Programme is focused on the creation of a greener 
more welcoming environment, increased climate change mitigation measures and supporting the return of 
workers and visitors, by contributing towards an improved pedestrian experience and wellbeing.  

The programme has been developed in collaboration with the Open Spaces department and DBE officers, 
along with local Church representatives, stakeholders and the EC Partnership.  

The recommended option is to continue the development of projects under this programme to ensure there 
is a coherent strategy for delivery and project dependencies are managed efficiently. The scope range 
includes small scale green interventions, as well as medium sized public space enhancements, which are 
inter-related and share stakeholder interests. This option recommends the following projects to be 
progressed and reported individually at Gateway 5 to obtain authority to start work. 

Improvements to existing public spaces: 
1. St Helen’s Bishopsgate churchyard:  
2. St Andrew Undershaft churchyard  
3. Jubilee Gardens  

 
Green streets: 

4. Creechurch Lane - Stoney Lane (interim greening measures in the short-term) 
5. Philpot Lane - Rood Lane (interim greening measures in the short-term) 
 

Climate Change Resilience measures 
6. Bevis Marks and Houndsditch; Pilot Sustainable urban drainage (Suds) schemes 
7. Area wide tree planting 
 

For a detailed description of the above projects and visuals, refer to Appendix 1 and 2. 
 

P
age 49



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

2. Scope and 
exclusions 

The focus of the programme is on areas of public highway, open spaces and churchyards, as they form part 
of the network of public spaces within the City Cluster. Opportunities have also been discussed with the EC 
Partnership for the review of areas which are publicly accessible private land, and which could be considered 
as sites to accommodate an increase provision of green infrastructure as part of future projects to be 
developed separately.  
 
Estimated cost ranges have been provided to account for detailed design, implementation, and on-going 
maintenance and monitoring of project, in particular for the climate resilience elements. If further external 
funding opportunities are confirmed, the scope of the programme could increase to include other potential 
improvements.  
  

Project Planning  

3. Programme and 
key dates  

Programme to be developed and implemented over a period of 3 years. 

Individual projects will be taken forward as work is developed and separate programmes will be prepared in 
consultation with stakeholders. 

4. Risk implications  
Overall project option risk:  Low 
 

Risk Description Response 

Funding from 
some proposed 
sources is not yet 
confirmed.  

TfL funding (Liveable 
Neighbourhood grant) is yet 
to be determined.  
 
Final details of external 
contributions and CIL 
neighbourhood fund bids 
are still to be confirmed. 
  

Section 106 contributions have been secured 
to cover the full costs of the projects (up to 
£1.5m). However, the preferred funding 
strategy proposes using a mix of funds in order 
to best manage the resources available and 
achieve optimum value for money. 
 
Officers will work closely with external funders 
and the Chamberlains Dept in order to put 

P
age 50



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

Funding from Cool Streets 
and Greening programme, 
is subject to approval. 
 

together the final funding strategy for individual 
projects ahead of Gateway 5.  
 

Underground 
conditions impact 
on project scope 
and cost. 

Due to existing underground 
conditions, greening 
interventions may need to 
be adapted in certain 
locations.   

Projects within churchyards will require careful 
excavation and archaeology investigations.  
Surveys will be commissioned, and specialist 
consultants will be brought on board to provide 
advice on this matter. 

 
Tree planting and Suds: Underground utilities 
present a challenge; however a number of 
design options are being explored to achieve 
climate resilience measures. Officers will carry 
out surveys and explore innovative design 
options for the provision of greenery and 
liaison with the Highways Division and 
Department of Open Spaces.  
 

Increased 
maintenance costs 
lead to overall 
increase in cost 
estimates  

There are pressures on 
existing maintenance 
budgets and a likelihood 
that maintenance costs may 
increase in the near future. 

Any increased maintenance costs (planting, 
paving, cleansing and infrastructure) will need 
to be reflected in project budgets at GW5, 
along with monitoring costs for climate 
resilience measures.  
 

Construction sites 
in the area impact 
programme 

On-going development 
construction in the area has 
the potential to affect or 
delay the delivery of 
projects.  

The programme includes interim solutions 
where there is a known development related 
delay. This can bring much needed positive 
change, whilst remaining flexible to allow for 
the redevelopment of sites to continue.   

P
age 51



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Covid-19 risks: 
 
Delivery plan 
requires changes  
 

The development of the 
programme may need to be 
further adapted as a result 
of the unknown nature of the 
City’s reopening and 
recovery. 
 

The programme has been developed with the 
City’s recovery in mind and there is scope for 
adapting the delivery to ensure projects comply 
with any new guidelines and response 
strategy.  

Implementation of 
projects is delayed 

5. Stakeholders and 
consultees 

 
The programme is to be developed in close consultation with local stakeholder groups, religious institutions 
and City officers from DBE and Open Spaces. The EC Partnership will play a key part in the development 
and prioritisation of projects. Regular engagement with this group is already taking place.  
 

6. Benefits of 
option 

1. Deliver attractive and inclusive spaces for people to enjoy. 
 

2. Increase the amount of greenery and provide spaces for safe social distancing as per the Covid-19 
response strategy. 
 

3. Provide a high-quality environment to meet the demands and predicted changing patterns in working 
population. 
 

4. Introduce measures to help mitigate the impacts of climate change and wind, and to improve air 
quality. Improve thermal comfort in the area. 

 

5. Contribute to the well-being of local users by offering outdoor spaces to rest, work and spend time 
in. 

7. Disbenefits of 
option 

At this stage there are no disbenefits of progressing with this programme, it forms part of the approved City 
Cluster Programme of works and is in line with the desired outcomes of the City Cluster Vision, Transport 
Strategy and City’s Climate Action Strategy.  

P
age 52



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

 

Resource 
Implications 

 

8. Total estimated 
cost  

Estimated cost (excluding risk): £1.4- £1.5 m for the implementation of the first 3 years of the programme 
including post-Gateway 5 design, implementation, maintenance and monitoring stages.  
 
It is noted that the estimated implementation budget is a minimum of £1.447m based on current estimates 
for the projects outlined in this report. The total cost of the programme could increase if additional funds are 
secured to deliver further enhancements with the exact amount to be confirmed at Gateway 5. 
 
 
 
 

9. Funding strategy   This programme is proposed to be funded by: 

• Existing area-specific Section 106 contributions (primary funding source). 

• CIL neighbourhood funding bids, to be submitted by stakeholders. 

• External contributions including S278 contributions.  

• TfL funding (yet to be determined). 

• The emerging Cool Streets and Greening programme (OSPR funded, subject to approval). 

The projects within this workstream have different funding strategies, and therefore are proposed to be 
reported individually at the next gateway. Other funding sources will continue to be investigated and reported 
to Members as appropriate. This includes the opportunity to attract additional external funds for further 
improvements. 

The forthcoming Gateway 5 reports will set out detailed cost estimates and funding sources, alongside 
construction programmes. 
 

P
age 53



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

10. Investment 
appraisal  

NA 

11. Estimated capital 
value/return 

NA  

12. Ongoing revenue 
implications  

Most of the spaces under consideration are already being maintained by the City. There is a risk that 
maintenance costs could increase in the coming years and any new green infrastructure will include a 
maintenance provision within the cost estimate. Where maintenance agreements are required, these will be 
established ahead of implementation.  
 

13. Affordability  
Details of the funding strategy are set out above and in Appendix 3.  
 
S106 receipts are the primary funding source and are in place to meet the full costs with other funding 
sources, including external sources, to be investigated in detail in consultation with the Chamberlains 
Department. 
 

14. Legal 
implications  

Agreements are required with the Church to implement the works to the Churchyards 

15. Corporate 
property 
implications  

None  

16. Traffic 
implications 

Some of the temporary interventions on streets such as Creechurch Lane and Philpot Lane, and longer- 
term projects such as Leadenhall Street, Camomile Street and Houndsditch, will require alterations to 
carriageway space, parking and loading provision and will also be subject to road safety audits. 
 
These interventions will build upon the Covid-19 recovery measures that are already in place and support 
the delivery of the Transport Strategy aims in the City Cluster.  
 

P
age 54



 
 

 

Option Summary Option 1 

17. Sustainability 
and energy 
implications  

• The projects will enhance the local carbon absorption capacity and improve air quality within the 
City Cluster.  

• Suds schemes will reduce stress on the City drainage network and increase biodiversity. 

• Programme objectives are in line with the emerging City Climate Action Strategy and Biodiversity 
Action Plan.  

• Planting species will be selected to reduce maintenance requirements and support biodiversity. 

• Works to churchyards will take into account the possible re-use of materials; and new materials will 
be in line with the City’s Public Realm Technical Manual.  

 

18. IS implications  NA 

19. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

The programme of works will deliver accessible and welcoming spaces for all user groups and provide 
areas where people can spend time outside their workplace environment. The improvements will deliver 
benefits for visitors as well as workers, and will facilitate safe social interaction, and improve physical and 
mental health.  

The design and management of the public space improvements will look to reduce or eliminate 
opportunities for antisocial behaviour and ensure that spaces feel safe and welcoming for all. 

Each project will have an individual Equality impact assessment carried out. 

20. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

NA 

21. Recommendation Recommended 

 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 56



 

 

  

Committees: 
Streets and Walkways Sub – For decision 
Projects Sub – For decision 
Open Spaces Committee - For information 
 

Dates: 
29 April 2021 
17 May 2021 
27 April 2021 

Subject:  

City Cluster Area – Activation and Engagement Programme 

Unique Project Identifier: 

City Cluster Vision Phase one – 12072 

Gateway 3: 
Outline Options 
Appraisal  
(Regular) 

Report of: 

Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Maria Herrera – City Public Realm  

PUBLIC 

 
 

1. Status update Project Description: The implementation of the City 
Cluster area delivery plan is divided between three 
programmes focused on 1) pedestrian priority and traffic 
reduction, 2) well-being and climate change resilience and 
3) activation and engagement. Each programme will deliver 
complementary improvements, in response to the highest 
priorities in the area, and are being developed in close 
collaboration with local stakeholders.  

This report sets out the details for an outline proposal of 
Programme 3 – Activation and Engagement, which is 
proposed to be taken forward to the next Gateway (4/5).  

RAG Status: Green  

Risk Status: Low  

Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): £200-
£300k for the delivery of the programme on an annual basis 
initially over 3 years. Since the previous report, the 
programme has been substantially developed in 
collaboration with stakeholders. This revised scope takes 
into account the deliverables within the City’s Recovery 
Taskforce actions.  

Change in Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding 
risk): £210k for the delivery of the programme, as reported 
in the previous programme report (July 2020).   

Spend to Date: £111,905 as part of the City Cluster Vision 
Phase 1 report (approved in July 2019) which also included 
development of elements within the other two programmes 
and overall programme coordination. This report will create 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 

 

a separate budget for programme 3 to manage the 
programme independently.   

Funding Source: For the overall programme over the next 
3 years, Section 106 contributions are secured to reach the 
next Gateway and deliver an initial set of activations this 
summer. External sponsorship is being explored as the 
primary funding source. Additional funding opportunities will 
also be discussed in consultation with the Chamberlain.  

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: NA  

Slippage: As a result of the pandemic and lockdown 
restrictions, the development of the programme was 
delayed until more certainty was provided in relation to 
restrictions and recovery plans. 
 

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway: Gateway 4/5  

Detailed Options Appraisal and authority to start work 

Next Steps:  

• Develop a detailed programme and agree priorities with 
EC Business Partnership, other stakeholder groups and 
the Cultural Programming and Partnerships team.  

• Develop a detailed funding strategy for the 
implementation of the programme, both medium and 
large scale.  

• Produce a management and governance plan for the 
proposed initiatives, alongside a communication 
strategy.  

• Submit a Gateway 4/5 report to committees in July 2021.  

 

Requested Decisions:  

1. To note an increase in the estimated programme 
budget specifically to address City recovery “Vibrant 
Offer” recommendations. The programme cost range 
is estimated to be £200-£300k, for the delivery of the 
programme on an annual basis, initially over 3 years. 

 
2. To note that the overall programme budget will be 

substantially funded by external sponsorship. The 
exact budget is subject to the level of external 
funding which is to be confirmed at the next 
Gateway.  
 

3. That planning for large and medium scale activation 
programmes (Option 1 and 2) be continued, with 
detailed options to be presented at Gateway 4-5.  
 

4. That a budget of £68,000 (£20k staff costs and £48k 
fees) from the Section 106 Agreement from the 

Page 58



 

 

Pinnacle is approved to reach the next Gateway and 
to deliver events to support City’s Recovery in 
summer 2021.  

 
 

3. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 

Table 1: Budget required for Programme 3– 
Engagement and Activation to reach the next 
gateway approval. 

Description Resources required 
to reach next 
Gateway (£) 

P&T Staff Costs 18,000  

Open Spaces Staff Costs 2,000 

Fees to include; 

• Development of 
programme to next 
gateway 

• Implementation of 
activations in summer 
2021 in partnership with 
Sculpture in the City 
and CoL outdoor 
events programme.  48,000  

 
TOTAL                         68,000  

 
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: No 
risk provision is required at this stage.  
 

4. Overview of 
project options 

The Activation and Engagement programme objectives are 
as follows:  

• To contribute to the creation of a pleasant street 
environment and welcoming destination where 
people can enjoy spending time outdoors. 

• To support businesses and build upon the areas 
existing cultural offer. 

• To develop the area as a vibrant destination, for both 
workers and visitors, and aid the City’s recovery.  

 
Delivery of these objectives will be framed around the 
following themes: 

• Urban greening and healthy spaces 

• Business support and cultural partnerships 

• Place activation and installations 
 
This programme will deliver on the aims of the City Cluster 
Vision, the Cultural Strategy (2018-2022), the Commerce 
and Culture task force and the Recovery task Force and 
has been developed in collaboration with the EC Business 

Page 59



 

 

Partnership and the City’s Cultural Programming and 
Partnerships Team.  
 
This programme delivers on the activities identified in the 
Recovery Task Force and will focus on the following headline 
workstream:  
 
Vibrant Offer (leisure offer i.e. retail, hospitality, culture, 
tourism and recreation) 
Activities:  

• Deliver activities and events that foster a sense of 
inclusion and shift perceptions around belonging in 
the City.  
• Deliver marketing targeting the City's and London's 
workforce, fostering inclusion and celebrating the 
"Unseen City", while encouraging participation in 
leisure activities outside of work hours.  
• Deliver outdoor fitness and leisure initiatives that 
contribute to the physical and mental wellbeing of 
the City's workforce. 
• Deliver bold event programming to include major 
weekend and night-time events that respond to 
shifting work patterns and potential low-use periods; 
support with community-led content. 
• Deliver marketing activity to drive domestic and 
London audiences to the City.  

 
 
Project Options:  
The programme proposal will promote the area as a vibrant 
and welcoming place for all, bringing the uniqueness of the 
area’s history, buildings and public realm under a 
programme of activation and engagement to aid the return of 
workers and visitors. Interventions will focus on promoting 
health, culture and outdoor activities with the aim of 
supporting the area as a destination. 
 
Two options are presented in this report, with medium-larger 
scale programmes to be developed further and presented at 
the next Gateway: 
 
Option 1: larger scale programme 
To develop a detailed 3-year programme of activities and 
events to meet the programme objectives and Recovery 
Taskforce aims, in partnership with local stakeholders, up 
to a value of £300k per year.  
 
This option will include a wide range of activities and 
installations, (compared to option 2) and will be focussed 
on encouraging outdoor activities and supporting 
businesses to aid the City’s recovery. It will also establish 

Page 60



 

 

the area as a destination, drawing upon the already 
established Sculpture in the City project. An outline 
description of the proposed interventions is contained within 
Appendix 2. 
 

Option 2: medium scale programme 
To develop a detailed 3-year programme of activities up to 
a value of £200k per year. This reduced scope will limit the 
range and frequency of activities and interventions.  
Officers will work with local businesses to ensure priorities 
are agreed and the scope is adjusted in line with available 
funding.  
  
The programme scope for subsequent years will be 
developed taking on board learned experiences from the 
initial programme, along with the aim of establishing a long-
term external funding strategy. 
 

5. Recommendations 
1. To note an increase in the estimated programme 

budget specifically to address City recovery “Vibrant 
Offer” recommendations and following positive 
engagement with local businesses and partners. 
Based on the above, the programme cost range is 
estimated to be £200-£300k, for the delivery of the 
programme on an annual basis initially over 3 years. 

 
2. To note that the overall programme budget will be 

substantially funded by external sponsorship. The 
exact budget is subject to the level of external 
funding which is to be confirmed at the next 
Gateway.  
 

3. That planning for large and medium scale activation 
programmes (Option 1 and 2) be continued, with 
detailed options to be presented at Gateway 4-5.  
 

4. That a budget of £68,000 (£20k staff costs and £48k 
fees) from the Section 106 Agreement from the 
Pinnacle is approved to reach the next Gateway and 
to deliver events to support City’s Recovery in 
summer 2021.  
 
 

5. Risk 
The risks associated with developing the programme are 
low. Officers will evaluate options that will respond to the 
needs of local stakeholders and in line with Corporate 
priorities.  
 
For top risks please refer to the Options appraisal  
 

Page 61



 

 

6. Procurement 
approach 

In order to reach the next Gateway, external consultants 
will be appointed to help develop the detail of the 
programme and this procurement will be carried out in line 
with the City’s procurement guidelines for projects.  
 
The delivery of the initial measures this summer will be 
undertaken in partnership with Sculpture in the City project 
and the City’s Cultural Programming and Partnerships 
Team.  

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Options appraisal matrix 

Appendix 2 Outline proposal: Example annual programme of 

activities 

 
Contact 

Report Author Maria Herrera 

Email Address Maria.herrera@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 020 7332 3132 

 

Page 62



Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 
 

Streets & Walkways Sub Committee 
 

29th April 2021 

City of London Transport Strategy - Review 2022 Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 2, 9, 11, 12. 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Y 

If so, how much? £25k 

What is the source of Funding? TfL - LIP/Local Risk 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Y 

Report of: Acting Director, Department of the Built 
Environment 

For Decision 

Report author: Samantha Tharme 
 

 
 

Summary 
 
This report sets out the context and recommended approach for a review of the 25-
year City of London Transport Strategy.  The Transport Strategy was adopted in May 
2019.  We have committed to reviewing the Strategy every three years.   
 
We have undertaken an initial review of evidence to identify issues for the Strategy 
review. This includes potential scenarios for the return to the workplace after the 
easing of Covid-19 restrictions and the impact this might have on land use decisions 
and travel behaviour.   
 
We anticipate changes in travel and working patterns, with the need to work from 
home over the last year accelerating trends towards flexible and hybrid working. We 
also anticipate a substantial return to City offices and that the City will continue to 
grow.  
 
This analysis, together with the recommendations of the Recovery Taskforce, 
indicates an ongoing need for investment in high quality public realm and sustainable 
transport. The Transport Strategy Vision, Aims and Outcomes are still therefore 
considered to be relevant.  We are proposing a review and update of the Transport 
Strategy rather than a wholesale revision, and that 2044 remains the end year for the 
Strategy.   
 
We will test this approach and identify any changes to the Transport Strategy’s 54 
proposals through further analysis and engagement with stakeholders, including 
residents, workers and visitors.   
 
An update on the findings of the workshops, surveys and engagement will be 
reported in October 2021. The draft of the changes to the Transport Strategy will be 
submitted to Committee for approval in December 2021.  Subject to approval, 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



consultation on the changes will take place between January and February 2022.  
The final revised Strategy will be submitted for adoption in spring 2022. 
 
A three year costed Delivery Plan will be submitted with the revised Transport 
Strategy.   

 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

1. Agree that the review of the Transport Strategy will focus on amending and 
adding proposals, and that the current Vision, Aims and Outcomes remain 
valid.  

2. Note the governance arrangements next steps for the review: 
• Further research and analysis 
• Stakeholder meetings and workshops 
• Public survey and focus groups 

 
Main Report 

Background 
1) The City of London Transport Strategy sets the 25-year framework for future 

investment in, and management of, the Square Mile’s streets and for 
improvements to transport connections.  The development of the Transport 
Strategy was informed by extensive engagement with City workers, residents, 
businesses and other organisations with an interest in transport in the Square 
Mile. 

 
2) The Transport Strategy was adopted in May 2019.  At that time members asked 

that it be reviewed every three years. This also aligns with the Mayor for London's 
Transport Strategy (MTS), which is on a three year cycle for funding and target 
setting. Transport policy and projects delivered by the City Corporation are 
required to support delivery of the MTS.   

 
3) The City Plan 2036 is currently being consulted on in line with formal timetable for 

revision and adoption.  The public consultation will run until 7 May before being 
submitted to the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government to appoint an independent planning inspector with the final City Plan 
2036 expected to be adopted in early 2022.  The Transport Strategy review 
timetable will allow any issues arising from this process to be reflected in updated 
proposals.  

 
Current Position  

4) The development of the Transport Strategy was informed by extensive 
engagement and consultation with City workers, residents, businesses and other 
organisations with an interest in transport in the Square Mile. Feedback from 
engagement on the Climate Action Strategy and Recovery Taskforce suggests 
the issues and priorities identified through earlier engagement remain valid.   

 

Page 64



5) We have also carried out an initial evidence review, this includes:   
 

a) Scenario Planning: We commissioned WSP to carry out a scenario planning 
exercise in Autumn 2020.  This considered potential changes to working 
patterns, demand for certain land uses in the City, and people’s travel 
choices. The report considers the extent to which the pandemic has provided 
an opportunity to accelerate and ‘lock in’ positive changes, decelerate and 
delay the pursuit of certain outcomes or altered the nature of potential 
outcomes. Overall, the report suggests a continuation of the approach set out 
in the Transport Strategy and identifies actions for accelerating the delivery of 
proposals. A copy of the report is provided in Appendix 1. 

 
b) Recovery Taskforce: The Recovery Task Force has identified a number pf 

priorities actions to ensure the Square Mile is the world’s most innovative, 
inclusive and sustainable business ecosystem, an attractive place to work, 
live and visit. These include ensuring the City’s streets and public spaces are 
attractive places to spend time; and accelerating plans to rebalance vehicle 
use, prioritise walking, enable cycling, improve air quality and provide more 
public space.  

 
c) Central Activity Zone Economic Futures Research: The Greater London 

Authority (GLA) commissioned research on the economic future of the Central 
Activity Zone, which includes the City. This research considered the impact of 
the Covid-19 restrictions and future vulnerabilities and opportunities.  The 
report’s conclusions included the need for a high-quality office, retail and 
leisure offer and for and high quality public space.   

 
d) Return to work surveys: A number of commercial and public organisations, 

including Transport for London, the Bank of England and the City Corporation, 
to assess anticipated work and travel behaviour in both the immediate return 
to work and medium-term future.   

 
6) Conclusions and working assumptions from analysis to date are:  

• The City and central London will return as key destinations for work, 
culture and leisure. 

• There will be a ‘flight to quality’ for office space and an expectation of 
high quality streets and public realm. 

• By 2022 there will be a substantial return to the office with more flexible 
and agile working. At least 60% of people are likely to be in the office 
on a typical day. 

• Public transport will remain the main way that people travel to and from 
the Square Mile, with continued growth in cycling (and potentially e-
scooters) 

• Walking will remain the main way that people travel within the Square 
Mile, and issues of crowding and comfort still need to be addressed. 

 
Strategic context  
7) The Transport Strategy review will provide an opportunity to further align the 

Transport Strategy with the Climate Action Strategy (CAS), which was adopted in 

Page 65



October 2020. The CAS includes Transport Strategy proposals and actions which 
lead to a reduction in carbon emissions from transport and support resilience.   

 
8) The City Local Plan is currently being consulted on in line with formal timetable 

for revision and adoption.  The City Plan 2036 is expected to be adopted in early 
2022.  The Transport Strategy review timetable will allow any issues arising from 
this process to be reflected. 

 
9) The next iteration of the City Corporation’s Local Implementation Plan (LIP) will 

be developed alongside the Transport Strategy once guidance is clarified from 
TfL.  The current LIP period comes to an end in March 2022.  We are currently 
awaiting further guidance from the Transport for London.  This is not anticipated 
to be received before the May Mayoral elections.   

 
10) Further forecasting of the network capacity across London has been undertaken 

by TfL and will inform the review of the Strategy. 
 
 
Proposed approach.  

11) Given the working assumptions set out above we believe that the Transport 
Strategy Vision, Aims and Outcomes (Appendix 2) remain relevant and do not 
need to change. With that in mind a review and update of the Transport Strategy 
rather than a wholesale revision is proposed, with 2044 remaining the end year 
for the Strategy.   

 
12) A comprehensive review of Transport Strategy proposals will identify 

amendments and consider the need for additional proposals. The programme of 
delivery may be recommended for change against some proposals.  Targets and 
key performance indicators will also be reviewed. This review will be informed by 
further analysis of travel, work and land use patterns and trends and stakeholder 
and public engagement. 

 
13) Engagement and consultation activities will include: 
 

• Stakeholder meetings and workshops 

• Public survey (online, May/June 2021) 

• Focus groups  

• Consultation on revisions to Transport Strategy (January/February 2022) 
 

Governance 

14) The governance arrangements are summarised in Appendix 3 It is proposed to 
follow a similar approach to that taken in the development of the Transport 
Strategy.   

 
15) We are intending to report to the Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee while 

conducting the review and updating the Transport Strategy. Previously this role 
was carried out by the Local Plan Sub-Committee. The change in reporting 
reflects the nature of the review and the existing timetable for meetings.  

 

Page 66



16) The draft revised Transport Strategy will be presented to the Planning & 
Transportation Committee prior to consultation. The final Strategy will be 
presented to the Planning & Transportation and Policy & Resources Committee 
for adoption.  

  
Programme and reporting schedule 
 
17) An overview of the review programme is provided in Appendix 4. An update on 

the findings of the analysis and engagement will be reported to Streets & 
Walkways in October 2021.  The draft of the changes to the Transport Strategy 
will be submitted to this Committee and the Planning & Transportation Committee 
for approval in December 2021.  Subject to approval, consultation on the 
changes to the Strategy will take place between January and February 2022.   

 
18) The final revised Strategy will be submitted for adoption by the Planning & 

Transportation and Policy & Resources Committee in spring 2022. 
 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 

 

Strategic implications 

19) Delivery of the Transport Strategy supports the delivery of Corporate Plan 
outcomes 1, 3, 5, 8, 9, 11 and 12. It also indirectly supports the delivery of 
Corporate Plan outcomes 2 and 4.   

20) Delivery of the Transport Strategy also helps mitigate corporate risks CR20 – 
Road Safety and CR21 – Air Quality.  

21) The Transport Strategy is required to demonstrate how it supports the Mayor's 
Transport Strategy, which is done through submission of the Local 
Implementation Plan(LIP). 

 

Financial implications 

22) A costed 3-year Delivery Plan will be provided alongside the updated Transport 
Strategy.  

 
23) Data collection, engagement and consultation costs associated with the review 

will be funded through local risk budget and TfL - LIP funding.   

 

Resource implications 

24) Staff resource is required to undertake the review.  The Strategic Transport Team 
is in place to undertake this work and will liaise with other teams as appropriate.   

 

Equalities implications  

25) A full Integrated Impact assessment including Equalities Impact Assessment was 
undertaken for the development of the Transport Strategy.  We have 
programmed an EQIA at early stages of the Strategy review to inform any high 
priorities that need addressing.  

  

Page 67



 

Climate implications 

26) Delivery of the Transport Strategy contributes to carbon reduction through 
reduction in motor vehicle use and a switch away from fossil fuel vehicles and to 
climate resilience.  The review will consider changes required to support the 
delivery of the adopted Climate Action Strategy.  

 

Security implications 

27) As the Transport Strategy is relevant to the management of public space and the 
transport network, security implications are relevant at a detailed level and inform 
decision making at a scheme level.  

 

Conclusion 

28) Following initial research and analysis the Transport Strategy Vision, Aims and 
Outcomes are considered still relevant.  It is therefore recommended that the 
review focuses on amendments and additions to the Transport Strategy 
proposals. The next steps for this review are to undertake further research and 
analysis and stakeholder and public engagement to identify potential changes 
and any new issues and priorities that need to be addressed. 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1:  WSP Scenario Planning Report 
Appendix 2 Transport Strategy Vision, Aims and Outcomes 
Appendix 3 Governance Structure 
Appendix 4 Programme 
 
Background papers:  
City of London Transport Strategy (https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-
Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf) 
Central Activity Zone Economic Futures Research: The Greater London Authority 
(GLA) (https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/future_of_the_central_activities_zone.pdf) 

 
 
Samantha Tharme 
Strategic Transport Officer, Department of the Built Environment 
 
E: Samantha.Tharme@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
T: 07542 228918 
 

Page 68

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/assets/Services-Environment/city-of-london-transport-strategy.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/future_of_the_central_activities_zone.pdf


v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
 
Corporate Projects Board - for information 
 
Streets and Walkways Committee - for decision  
 
Projects Sub Committee - for decision  
 
 

Dates: 
 
31 March 2021 
 
29 April 2021 
 
17 May 2021  

Subject:  
Bloomberg Development Highway Works  
 
Unique Project Identifier: 

10744  

Gateway 6: 
Outcome Report 
Regular 

Report of: 
Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Leah Coburn – City Transportation 
 

PUBLIC 

 
 
Summary 
 

1. Status update Project Description:  Changes to the highways layout around 
the Bloomberg development including changes to Cannon 
Street, Walbrook, Bucklersbury, Queen Victoria Street and 
Queen Street.  

RAG Status: Green (Green at last report) 

Risk Status: Low (Low at last report) 

Final Outturn Cost: £3,443,964 

The project was delivered on time and under budget.  

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Requested Decisions:  

Members of Streets and Walkways and Projects Sub 
Committees are asked to: 

• Note the content of this report 

• Agree to close the Bloomberg Development Highways 
project 

• Authorise the Chamberlain’s department to return 
unspent S278 funds to the developer, subject to 
verification of the final accounts  

Page 69

Agenda Item 11



v.April 2019 

 

• Authorise the Chamberlain’s department to return the 
Section 106, CIL and City’s Cash balances to their 
respective accounts/codes 
 

3. Key conclusions The works have been completed to a high quality and provide 
an appropriate setting for the European headquarters of 
Bloomberg L.P. The highways works around the building 
entrances were completed on time for the building’s 
occupation.   

Due to the gas main replacement works and associated 
closures of Cannon St since the project has finished, and then 
the impact of the COVID pandemic on traffic movement it has 
not been possible to analyse whether improvements in road 
safety have been realised through this project. Continued 
monitoring of road safety issues will be managed through the 
Road Danger Reduction and Active Travel Plan 2018-2023. 

There is a reasonable level of underspend on the development 
split across the multiple funding streams due to lower than 
estimated construction and utilities costs.  

 

The wording in the S256 agreement does not require the 
underspend of the Highways Works Payment (made under the 
second s278 agreement) to be returned but prohibits its 
expenditure on anything other than the specified works unless 
agreed with the developer. However further discussions with 
the Developer have indicated their strong preference for this 
funding to be returned to them rather than for their agreement 
to its expenditure on alternative measures. Officers advise that 
without the Developer’s agreement to alternative expenditure 
the sum cannot be spent and its retention is of no benefit to the 
City.   Its return is recommended.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Design & Delivery Review 
 

4. Design into 
delivery  

The following items are of particular note for this project’s review: 
 
Engagement 

Page 70



v.April 2019 

 

Working group meetings were held with neighbouring businesses. 
These were attended by the highways design team. This combined 
approach ensured design and construction programming took into 
consideration the requirements and access needs of all working 
group members.  
 
Programme 
During construction there were a number of emergency utility 
repairs needed on Cannon Street and works on Queen Victoria 
Street associated with the Bank Station Capacity Upgrade which 
required close coordination and a flexible approach to the street 
works programme. Part of the works needed to be accelerated to 
meet the deadline for the official opening of the Bloomberg 
buildings in October 2017.  
 
Timetabling of works also needed to take into consideration two 
Lord Mayor’s shows and the resurfacing work at Tower Bridge. 
Despite these challenges the work at Cannon Street was 
completed in time for the Bank on Safety scheme being 
implemented at Bank Junction. Street work was able to continue to 
on Queen Victoria Street after the Bank on Safety Scheme has 
settled in.  
 
Additional funding for work on Bucklersbury 
Additional funding became available for the works at Bucklersbury 
through the boundary adjustment negotiation with the developer 
(s256 agreement).  The resurfacing work on Bucklersbury was 
already included in the original scope which meant there was no 
delay to commencing this work.   
 
Retained elements 
Once the cobbles were removed on Bucklersbury and Walbrook it 
was apparent that the existing basecourse could be retained for the 
new granite setts. This reduced the construction time and the cost 
significantly of this element of the project. 
 
 
 
Drainage redesign  
The discussions around building drainage were not advanced 
enough when the design was finalised so resulted in a late design 
change. These were also tied into a boundary adjustment 
agreement (S256) to rationalise the boundary between the private 
and public highway. Once the S256 boundary adjustment 
agreement between Bloomberg and the City Corporation had been 
completed a part of the drainage design needed to be redesigned 
during construction.  
 

Page 71



v.April 2019 

 

 

5. Options 
appraisal 

The Gateway 3 / 4 presented to members in late 2015 only 
provided one option. This was to narrow Cannon St carriageway 
and widen footways, raise the carriageways on Walbrook and 
Bucklersbury and repave in granite setts to provide a level walking 
surface.  The signalised junction of Queen Victoria St and Queen 
St was upgraded to  provide a diagonal crossing on the pedestrian 
desire line between the new walkway created through the 
Bloomberg building and Watling. Further footway and carriageway 
resurfacing was undertaken around the development site.  
 
The recommended option was informed and shaped by the 
highway needs of local stakeholders represented on the 
Bloomberg Working Party. It also reflected the form of the 
development which already had planning permission and met the 
pedestrian desire line around the building. Footway widening on 
Cannon Street was added in to address the road safety issue 
previously experienced here.  
 
City’s cash funding was obtained to resurface the section of 
highway outside Mansion House which is not highway maintained 
at public expense.  
 
This option met the project’s objectives and there have been no 
significant changes made to the design through to construction.   
 

6. Procurement 
route 

Construction of the highways works was undertaken by the City 
Corporation’s term contractor JB Riney. The work was finished to a 
very high quality. The team were very flexible in their approach to 
delivery which was necessary to work around the release of areas 
of highway by the Developer and the numerous disruptions from 
the emergency utility works. 
 

7. Skills base Detailed design work and construction supervision was provided by 
the Highways team. As noted below, the successful delivery of this 
project was in part due to the design engineer being co-located 
with the developer’s design team for the duration of the 
construction works.  
 

8. Stakeholders The site is bounded by a number of neighbouring stakeholders. A 
working group (‘The Bloomberg Working Party’) was convened 
once the project was initiated to ensure the various stakeholders’ 
needs were catered for. This group included nine local 
stakeholders including Bloomberg, Mansion House, the City of 
London Magistrates’ Court and Transport for London. Through a 
series of meetings, a schedule of highways needs was developed. 
This included servicing, special events and emergency evacuation 

Page 72



v.April 2019 

 

requirements. These needs were fed into the highway design, 
which was then agreed by the parties.  
 
Throughout the 18-month construction period regular contact was 
maintained with these stakeholders both through the project 
engineer, project manager and the stakeholder engagement 
officer. Traffic management plans were provided in advance of any 
changes to road arrangements along with regular correspondence. 
 
In particular the Magistrates’ Court had particular access needs, 
Mansion House and St Stephen Walbrook Church held regular and 
special events which required planning to minimise noise disruption 
(and provide highways space for state banquets etc), the 
restaurants on Queen Street required different working hours to 
facilitate lunchtime trade and deliveries to the Rothschild’s building,  
the Walbrook Building and all local businesses needed to be 
maintained.  

Variation Review 
 

9. Assessment 
of project 
against key 
milestones 

The necessary highways works around the development site were 
completed in time for the buildings’ occupation in late 2017. This 
was the milestone set out in the Gateway 5 report. Additional 
works around Queen Victoria Street were completed in September 
2018 which was delayed due to the emergency gas work on 
Cannon Street. Queen Victoria Street needed to remain open for 
diverted traffic.  
 
Overall the programme of construction work took two years.  
 
    

10. Assessment 
of project 
against Scope 

There was no change to scope during the course of the project 
delivery.   
 
Works to Bucklersbury were included in the scope of the project 
but identified as unfunded. Once work started on site further 
funding was provided by Bloomberg as part of the boundary 
adjustment agreement to advance this construction work at the 
same time.   
 

11. Risks and 
issues 

None of the identified key risks became issues. There was a large 
amount of reprogramming required around the emergency utility 
works but this was able to be done without impact on project costs. 
 
Having the City’s Design Engineer closely supervising the 
construction of the highways works and working alongside the 
developer’s engineering consultants meant that the risks were 
proactively managed. Relevant GPR surveys were also 
undertaken prior to concluding the detailed design.  

Page 73



v.April 2019 

 

 

12. Transition to 
BAU 

A commuted sum was included for ongoing maintenance of the  
street trees along Queen Victoria Street. 
 
As part of the Section 256 boundary adjustment agreement the 
City Corporation is taking some private surface water from the 
development site into the City’s highway drainage system. The 
developer has provided a commuted maintenance sum to allow for 
enhanced street cleaning and surface water drainage maintenance 
in the area.  
 

 
  

Page 74



v.April 2019 

 

Value Review 
 

13. Budget   
Budget History Estimated cost (including risk): 

Estimated Outturn 
Cost 2 

£4,899,000 

Estimate Cost at 
G5  

£4,692,143 

Overall cost of 
project 

£3,443,964 

 

Funding 
source  

Approved 
budget (£) 

Expenditure 
(£) 

Balance (£) 

S278 Funding 2,789,143 2,426,281 362,862 

S106 Funding 734,200 402,916 331,284 

CIL 425,000 182,324 242,676 

S256 Funding 673,800 390,166 283,634 

City’s Cash 70,000 42,277 27,723 

Totals 4,692,143 3,443,964 1,248,180 

 

Please confirm whether or not the Final Account for this 
project has been verified. No 

 

There is an underspend of approximately 20% of the value of the 
project. This was in part due to the age of the project before 
Costed Risk Provision was utilised and so a risk ‘buffer’ is likely to 
have been included in highways cost estimate.  

 

The largest element of the underspend was due to allowing for full 
replacement of basecourse within the carriageway which upon 
excavation was found not to be required.  

14. Investment N/A 

15. Assessment 
of project 
against 
SMART 
objectives 

The Gateway 5 for this report was written prior to Smart Objectives 
being set. The project however was successfully delivered on time 
to the satisfaction of the developer. 
 
 

16. Key benefits 
realised 

Because of the significant lengths of time Cannon Street has been 
closed since the highways works were completed we are unable to 
determine if the road safety improvements have been realised. 
This location will continue to be monitored as part of the Road 
Danger Reduction and Active Travel Plan 2018-2023. 
 

 

Page 75



v.April 2019 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lessons Learned and Recommendations 
 
 

17.Positive 
reflections  

The delivery of the project was successful due to the close working 
relationship between the Highways team and the Developer’s 
design team, and with the ongoing stakeholder management. The 
site was located in a challenging area with a number of very 
different stakeholders surrounding the site and a high volume of 
pedestrian movements which had to be maintained during the 
construction works. Constant engagement with stakeholders 
ensured that we minimised the impact on surrounding premises. 
 
The close working relationship with the term contractor and their 
willingness to be flexible meant that delays due to emergency gas 
works did not impact on programme or cost.  
 
The quality of the work is very high and reflects the quality of the 
Bloomberg development, the surrounding listed buildings and the 
conservation area. The replacement of the cobbles with cropped 
granite setts provides a much-improved surface for people walking.  
 
This project is also a good example of combining various funding 
sources to deliver a more comprehensive highway project.  
We were able to incorporate a diagonal crossing at the crossing of 
Queen Street, Queen Victoria Street and Watling Street. This is the 
first diagonal crossing in the City and provides a crossing route on 
a strong pedestrian desire line between the Bloomberg Arcade and 
Watling Street.  
 
Early engagement with Bloomberg enabled a unique approach to 
street lighting where the building sensitively lights the public 
highway. This is an early exemplar of how we can work with the 
developer to implement the City Lighting Strategy and design out 
overlapping fixtures and fittings that would otherwise clutter the 
street and/or provide lighting levels that are too high.  
  

18. Improvement 
reflections 

The discussions around building drainage were not advanced 
enough when the design was finalised which resulted in a late 
design change. These were also tied into a boundary adjustment 
agreement (Section 256) to rationalise the boundary between the 
private and public highway. This was the first time that this form of 

Page 76



v.April 2019 

 

agreement has been entered into and it took some time to agree 
the terms of reference. The land ownership boundaries were 
complex and tying together the numerous land titles was time 
consuming and delayed the signing of the agreement. In future 
situations we may consider the use of a specialist land charges 
person to do this.  
 

19. Sharing best 
practice 

Lessons learnt have been shared through team meetings and will 
be entered onto project vision. 
 

20. AOB N/A  

 
 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Finance tables 

Appendix 2 Photos of completed project 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Leah Coburn 

Email Address Leah.coburn@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 020 7332 1567 
 
 

 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



 

v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
Corporate Projects Board - for information 
Streets and Walkways Committee - for decision 
Projects Sub Committee - for decision 
 

Dates: 
31/3/21 
29/4/21 
17/5/21 
 

Subject:  
Consolidated Report – Shoe Lane Quarter Public Realm 
Enhancements – Phases 1 and 2 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 

Phase 1 – 11585, Phase 2 - 11346 

Gateway 6: 
Outcome Report 
Complex 

Report of: 
Director of the Built Environment 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Daniel Laybourn – City Transportation 

PUBLIC 

 
Summary 
 

1. Status update Joint Project Description: To deliver high-quality public realm 
around 1 New Street Square (Landsec/ Deloitte) and the London 
Development Project (Goldman Sachs), to enhance the 
streetscape in the Shoe Lane Quarter.  

Phase 1 – 1 New Street Square (Landsec/ Deloitte)  

RAG Status: Green (Green at last report to Committee) 

Risk Status: Low (Low at last report to committee) 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: N/A – Project predates the 
requirement for a costed risk provision. 

Final Outturn Cost: S106 - £240,264. S278 - £309,718. Total - 
£549,982 

Phase 2 – The London Development Project (Goldman 
Sachs)  

RAG Status: Green (Green at last report to Committee) 

Risk Status: Low (Low at last report to committee) 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: N/A – Project predates the 
requirement for a costed risk provision. 

Final Outturn Cost: S106 - £2,113,761. S278 - £5,170,206. 
Total - £7,283,967 

Page 79

Agenda Item 12



 

v.April 2019 

 

2. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions  

Requested Decisions:  

Members of Streets and Walkways and Project Sub- 
Committees are asked to:  

•  Note the content of this outcome report;  

• Authorise the Chamberlain’s department to return unspent 
section 106 and 278 funds to the developers as set out in the 
respective legal agreements, after any required maintenance 
sums are accounted for and subject to the verification of the final 
accounts;  

•  Should it be request by the client, authorise the transfer of any 
unspent funds, following verification of the final accounts, to a 
separate project where the financial commitment resides with 
the same client; and  

• Agree to close the Shoe Lane Quarter Public Realm 
Enhancements – Phases 1 and 2 projects. 

3. Key conclusions The Shoe Lane Quarter Public Realm Enhancements, that were 
delivered in two phases as shown in Appendix 1 and started in 
2012 with the closure of Stonecutter Street, have now been 
completed. Although finishing later than planned, these projects 
combined have achieved a step-change in the quality of the 
public realm around two significant new developments. Each 
project also fully delivered on all the desired benefits and 
outcomes set out by the project Working Party, and no future 
additional financial responsibility has been placed on the City by 
either project.  

Both projects were funded using a combination of Section 106 
and 278 contributions to deliver highways, greening and security 
improvements around the two development sites.  At the start of 
each project working parties were set up including the 
developers and other local stakeholders including the Church 
and City Temple. This working group set out their needs and 
aspirations and helped to shape the overall streetscape vision. 
The successful delivery of what was a complex construction 
project would not have been possible without the on-going 
support and collaboration of the main clients and key local 
stakeholder – Landsec, Deloitte, Goldman Sachs, Transport for 
London, City Temple and St Andrew Holborn Church.  

With the scale and scope of the changes that were to be 
delivered in the area, some issues did arise during the 
construction phase.  These are explored in this report, but each 
of these were able to be overcome by close partnership working 
with the clients, contractors and internal & external stakeholders.  

Page 80



 

v.April 2019 

 

With high-quality materials and complex design, the finished 
schemes will now go on to act as an example of what can be 
achieved by delivering public realm improvements around 
several new developments holistically. The lessons learned, 
particularly with regards security infrastructure integrated into 
public realm features will inform future highway projects and 
schemes in the City. 

 
Main Report 

 
Design & Delivery Review 
 

4. Design into 
delivery  

The designs for both projects have successfully accommodated the 
associated new private developments. The City’s Highways Team 
and the term contractor (J B Riney) worked together with the 
clients and their various agents and contractors to re-programme 
works where necessary and to ensure that the construction of both 
projects seamlessly integrated to deliver the two phases of work 
with the construction of the buildings. The design process for the 
Phase 2 project was particularly challenging, where the City 
accepted a preliminary highways design from the developer as part 
of the planning process that then in parts had to be redesigned. 
Please see section 18 for more details.   
 

5. Options 
appraisal 

The overall raised carriageway/ shared space approach approved 
by Committee and taken forward into construction has met the 
projects’ and the clients’ objectives. Thorough stakeholder 
engagement and consultation throughout the previous stages of 
the projects’ development, such as the Shoe Lane Quarter Working 
Group and as documented in the previous gateway reports, has 
helped to inform this process and ensure that stakeholders’ views 
and preferences were accounted for where possible.  
 

6. Procurement 
route 

The detailed designs were prepared in-house by the City’s 
highways team, with the initial highways design for Phase 2 being 
provided by the Client. The City’s term contractor, JB Riney, was 
then used to deliver the majority of both projects, with the City’s 
Open Spaces team undertaking the greening elements.  
 
At times, smaller elements of the work were undertaken by external 
specialists such as Arcadis Structural Engineers for the design of a 
retaining wall and irrigation cabinet on Stonecutter Street, and SFH 
Maintenance for the design and installation of the man-safe anchor 
points installed in the planters on Farringdon Street and Shoe 
Lane.  
 

Page 81



 

v.April 2019 

 

7. Skills base The Project Team had the skills, knowledge and experience to 
manage and deliver the project. At times within Phase 2 and 
following requests from the developer, their contractors and 
specialists were involved in the design process. Also, as mentioned 
in section 6, external specialists were contracted by the project 
team to provide specific expertise where needed  
 

8. Stakeholders Before construction began on either project, the Shoe Lane 
Quarter Working Group was established to engage the local 
stakeholders.  This ensured that they were fully consulted on the 
detail on the proposals, kept up to date on project progress and 
provided a forum for each attendee to update the group with their 
own activities 
 
However, whilst the delivery of Phase 1 around New Street Square 
and Little New Street saw no stakeholder-related issues, the lack of 
any response or engagement from one property on Plumtree 
Court, did lead to some issues during the delivery of Phase 2. The 
tenant in Morley House, a charity, used Plumtree Court to access 
their facilities.  It is thought that the tenant moved in just before 
construction began on Phase 2.  The project team were not able to 
consider their access requirements during the planning phase for 
construction and so could only mitigate the disruption caused once 
they were approached by the tenant to make their requirements 
known. After this, the project team worked at accommodating the 
charity’s daily activities wherever possible, although at times this 
was difficult to achieve whilst keeping to the joint programme.  
 
Another issue that became apparent during construction was that 
the disruption to the local area caused by the private construction 
activities was at times incorrectly attributed to the City’s highway 
works.  
 
Subsequently, the time and work required by officers to manage 
and resolve the issues above was not fully accounted for in the 
original project planning. Overall, the feedback received from 
stakeholders, now that building work has completed, indicates that 
all are pleased with the transformation that has taken place in the 
area and the benefits it brings to those living, working and travelling 
through. 
 

 
 
 
Variation Review 
 

Page 82



 

v.April 2019 

 

9. Assessment 
of project 
against key 
milestones 

Phase 1 started on time in March 2016. Due to the private 
development’s construction delays, areas of the public highway 
were not handed back to the City on time to enable the highway 
work to proceed to the original programme. Phase 1 was therefore 
substantially completed in August 2016 rather than April 2016 as 
originally planned. 
 
Phase 2 started on time in January 2018. Again, due to delays with 
the private development, areas of the public highway were not 
handed back to the City on time to enable the highway work to 
proceed to the original programme. Phase 2 was therefore 
substantially completed in August 2019 rather than April 2019 as 
originally planned. The closing out of a few final construction tasks 
of Phase 2 however has been delayed. These relate to minor 
changes identified by a road safety audit following the substantial 
completion of the work. The order for this work has been placed 
with the City’s term contractor and the changes are to be made as 
soon as possible but have been delayed due to the Covid-19 
lockdown and subsequent impacts with the procurement of specific 
materials. 
 
Overall though, none of these delays were a significant problem as 
the completion of the highway work was organised to keep pace 
with the delayed completion of the private developments and their 
occupation dates. Therefore, there were no negative impacts to the 
clients caused by the City in either case. 
 

10. Assessment 
of project 
against Scope 

There were no significant changes in either project’s design to that 
approved for construction by the City’s committees. 

11. Risks and 
issues 

Phase 1 did not encounter any risks that couldn’t be handled within 
the BAU project management process. Regarding Phase 2, some 
of the risks were realised but again these were handled within the 
BAU and S278 project management process. These mainly related 
to the utility companies initially requiring more funds than originally 
estimated for the required utility diversions.  However, they have 
since returned a portion of that funding back to the project as it 
wasn’t needed. This is a fairly common practice of the utility 
companies to ensure they have low risks associated to them for 
the diversion work. 
 
Also, the City’s highways contractor was delayed on Phase 2 of 
the works by the developer’s contractor, and this resulted in 
increased costs in order to reduce the delay to the programme. To 
deal with the delay on the progress of the private development, the 
Client requested the City to accelerate its work to ensure the 
highway work completed in time for the planned occupation of the 

Page 83



 

v.April 2019 

 

new building. Therefore, the Client was asked to recontribute the 
increased costs, and pay additional funds for acceleration as per 
the S278 agreement and the increased utility costs. However, to 
make the client’s delivery date, the acceleration had to commence 
immediately prior to approval but this cost-only change was 
detailed and approved retrospectively in an Issue Report to 
committee in July 2019. 
 
As both projects’ approvals date back before the requirement for 
Costed Risk Provisions, it’s not possible to include these with this 
report. 
 

12. Transition to 
BAU 

With both projects now being complete, BAU maintenance 
responsibilities have now been passed over to the Highways 
Maintenance and Open Spaces teams. Regarding the London 
Development (Goldman Sachs), an annual maintenance plan as 
required by the S278 agreement has been established due to the 
high number of non-standard items installed such as the planters 
on Shoe Lane and the hostile vehicle integration around the 
building. The City’s maintenance costs are fully reimbursed by the 
building’s occupier on an annual basis. 
 

 
Value Review 
 

13. Budget   

Phase 1 Estimated 
Outturn Cost (G2) 

Estimated cost: N/A (scheme was 
first estimated separately at its G5 
stage in late 2015 for £575,760) 
 

Phase 2 Estimated 
Outturn Cost (G2) 

Estimated cost: approx. £7,000,000 
 

     
Spend to Date: 1 New Street Square S106 & S278 (Landsec/ Deloitte – 
Phase 1) 

Description 

G5 Approved 
Budget (£) 

Expenditure 
(£) 

Balance (£) 

Staff Costs 
            

95,000  
              

130,666  
                       

(35,666) 

Fees 
                

20,000  
                   

2,500  17,500    

Works 
            

460,760  
              

416,816  
                   

43,944  

TOTAL 
            

575,760  
              

549,982  
                   

25,778  

Page 84



 

v.April 2019 

 

    
Spend to Date: The London Development S106 & S278 (Goldman Sachs 
– Phase 2) 

Description 

G5 Approved 
Budget (£) 

Expenditure 
(£) 

Balance (£) 

Staff Costs 
            

800,079  
              

826,384  
                   

(26,306)  

Fees 
            

355,796  
              

330,681  
                   

25,115  

Works 
        

6,062,250  
           

5,793,132  
                

269,118  

Pre-App 
            

131,418  
              

131,418  
                             

0  

Maintenance* 
            

259,006  
              

202,352  
                   

56,654  

TOTAL 
        

7,608,548**  
           

7,283,967 
                

324,581  
 

* The scope of the commuted maintenance sums required have been agreed in 
conjunction with the S106/278 legal agreement since the last report. It has been 
agreed that this sum be taken from the Phase 2 project savings by the City at 
the time of the final account before returning the remaining unspent funds. The 
Annual Maintenance payment by the building's occupier is accounted for 
separately. 
 
** Approx. £174k, fully funded by the Client, was added to the Phase 2’s budget 
by Issue Report in July 2019. Reasoning for this is detailed in Section 11 of this 
report. 
   

14. Investment Not Applicable 
 

15. Assessment 
of project 
against 
SMART 
objectives 

Phase 1 predated the requirement for SMART objectives. The 
Phase 2 project did however achieve its SMART objectives of: 
 

• Creation of secure ‘Stand-off’ and security infrastructure to 
the appropriate British Standard; 

• Reduce road danger; 

• Creating usable additional public space from excess 
carriageway; 

• Tree planting as climate change mitigation; 

• Improved street appearance; and  

• Securing Goldman Sachs’ commitment to this City location. 
 

16. Key benefits 
realised 

The Phase 1 and 2 projects have together delivered the following 
key benefits in the Shoe Lane Quarter. These can be defined as: 
 

• Enabling safe access to the new developments for people 
walking and cycling; 

Page 85



 

v.April 2019 

 

• Enabling and enhancing provisions for pedestrians by 
widening footways; 

• A raised carriageway that facilitates easier pedestrian 
crossing 

• Provision of extra seating, greening and lighting 
enhancements to create a sense of ‘place’;  

• Aesthetic improvements to the area by the implementation of 
high-quality materials and design; and 

• Security enhancements requested and funded by Phase 2’s 
client.  

 

 
Lessons Learned and Recommendations 
 

17. Positive 
reflections  

As mentioned previously, the Shoe Lane Quarter Working Group 
ensured that all the key stakeholders were fully consulted, kept up 
to date on progress and provided a forum for all to discuss their 
activities. This therefore helped to inform the City’s highways design 
to ensure it met with stakeholder expectations. The City also 
benefited greatly from three clients who were very supportive in 
implementing the Shoe Lane Quarter transformation 
 
The project team, including the clients’ agents and Transport for 
London in relation to the construction of the cycle superhighway on 
Farringdon Street, worked well together throughout the project. This 
is especially noteworthy given the small size of the team and the 
scale of the private and public developments involved. Also, the 
small size of the team enabled quick and effective communication 
as generally each person acted as single point of contact for the 
parties involved. As an example, at the peak of the project this 
involved the City’s highways project, the construction of the London 
Development Project building and the construction of Transport for 
London’s Cycle Superhighway on Farringdon Street to all co-exist 
and progress in the same spaces whilst maintaining safe pedestrian 
access through the area.  
 
Due to the bespoke nature of both projects, a significant amount of 
the scope involved complex design work that required close 
collaboration between all stakeholders and their design teams. 
Prime examples of this were the revisions of the road and footpath 
levels on Shoe Lane to suit the London Development Project whilst 
maintaining the protected views of St Pauls, and intricate design of 
the hostile vehicle mitigation measures around the site. The learning 
and design knowledge gained from these experiences can now be 
taken forward into future projects. 
The Phase 2 project has also made an overall saving. Whilst the 
project team all helped to deliver this saving, the City’s engineers 

Page 86



 

v.April 2019 

 

were primarily responsible as a result of their diligent construction 
management and close working with the principal contractor. Also, 
the City engineers’ and the contractor’s ability and willingness to re-
programme works as required to meet the developer’s evolving 
plans was key in minimising any delivery delays. 
 

18. Improvement 
reflections 

As a result of a decision made at the planning stages, the scope for 
the project team to negotiate during Phase 2 was limited, and 
greater design control was passed to the developer than is usual for 
such projects. For example, the design novation process where the 
City accepted a preliminary highways design for Phase 2 from the 
client was, in hindsight, not adequate. To be effective and to avoid 
the later issues the project incurred, the process should have 
included a requirement for the client to ensure that the preliminary 
design had gone through (as a minimum) an independent road 
safety audit and a construction design management (CDM) review, 
with evidence for both being provided at the time of acceptance as 
there is the obligation on the City, as the eventual principal 
designer, to ensure processes like these are undertaken. Doing this 
on future projects would help to avoid situations where a design is 
perceived by a client to have been fully approved but as the project 
progresses, unforeseen changes are required. These also nearly 
always result in extra costs to accommodate at the later stages. 
 
Regarding the required utility diversions, the Phase 2 G5 project 
estimate and therefore the S106/278 agreement included a 
provisional sum for the estimated amount of utility work needed. 
This amount was informed by previous projects of similar scale and 
allowed the project team to proceed to signing the legal agreement 
with the Client. The Client had pushed for the agreement to be 
made on this basis, rather than wait for all the utility owners to 
submit estimates which can take some time to arrive. On reflection, 
these early provisional estimates, if used in future S278 
agreements, may need to increase better reflect to the developer 
the likely utility costs request.  As usual if these estimated costs are 
then not realised, the money will be returned once the Utility 
company has completed their work. Also, C3 utility surveys could be 
undertaken earlier in the design process to help mitigate against low 
estimates and increased delays. 
 
Although not an issue for these schemes, during Phase 2’s 
construction in September 2018, the Department for Transport 
issued a guidance note asking that the majority of shared space/ 
level surface schemes in design development be paused to allow for 
the related guidance to be reviewed due to concerns raised about 
the design concept. At the time of writing, no revised guidance has 

Page 87



 

v.April 2019 

 

been published so it would be difficult for the City to proceed with a 
similar scheme at this time. 
 
Finally, in Phase 2, the client requested that the final stages of 
construction be accelerated to help ensure the work was completed 
by the time occupation of their new building began. This was a 
simple request containing no scope changes that involved the client 
contributing additional funds to the project to cover the increased 
costs. However, in order to accept the funds into the project, the 
City’s project processes required that an issue report be submitted 
to committee to increase the overall budgets. This process took 
approximately two months to complete due to the City’s reporting 
processes but at that stage in the construction process, it wasn’t 
possible to halt work and so the acceleration had to take place 
before the issue report was considered or approved. In future, 
default delegation of authority to the chief officers, in conjunction 
with the Chamberlains, to increase overall project budgets should 
the increase be fully funded by developer could be implemented in 
the standing orders. This would then help to improve the efficiency 
of the project management process, enable working practice 
changes to be made swiftly and avoid presenting relatively minor 
changes to Committee for their consideration. 
 

19. Sharing best 
practice 

Dissemination of lessons learnt and project improvements has taken 
place via team and project staff briefings. 
 

20. AOB The phase 1 G5 project predated the requirement for a project 
coversheet. 
 

 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Phase 1 and 2 Scope 

Appendix 2 Phase 2 Project Coversheet 

Appendix 3 Finance Tables 

Appendix 4 Before and After Photos 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Daniel Laybourn 

Email Address Daniel.Laybourn@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 020 7332 3041 

 

 

Page 88

mailto:Daniel.Laybourn@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 

Committee(s): 
Streets and Walkways Sub – For Information 
Projects Sub – For Information 
Open Spaces Committee - For information  
 

Date(s): 
29 April 2021 
17 May 2021 
27 April 2021 

Subject: 
City Cluster Area – Programme Update 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 
City Cluster and Fenchurch Healthy Streets Plan - 
12071 
City Cluster Vision Phase One - 12072 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Director of the Built Environment 

For Information 
  

Report author: 
Maria Herrera – City Public Realm 

 

Summary  

This report provides an update on the City Cluster delivery framework, which is structured around 
three programmes and focused on the implementation of the City Cluster Vision. In addition, the 
work supports objectives set out in the Transport Strategy, Climate Action Strategy, Commerce and 
Culture Taskforce and Recovery Taskforce.  

The three City Cluster Vision programmes are: 

• Programme 1) Pedestrian priority and traffic reduction,  

• Programme 2) Wellbeing and Climate Change Resilience, and  

• Programme 3) Activation and Engagement 

In the current context of the City recovering from the pandemic, it is important to progress these 
programmes, which will help to deliver an outstanding environment and improve the way that streets 
and spaces can support the local economy. These programmes also include measures that will 
begin to improve the environmental resilience of the public realm, addressing climate impacts in the 
coming years. To that end, further work on Programmes 2 and 3 has been completed and the results 
are being presented to this Committee via accompanying Gateway reports. A report on Programme 
1 will also be presented to Committees later this year. 

All programmes have been progressed following engagement with stakeholders, incorporating 
detailed feedback from the EC business partnership and to ensure alignment with the objectives of 
the Commerce and Culture and Recovery Task Forces and other key corporate priorities.  
 
A revised overall budget is set out in the Appendix and more detail, including a funding strategy for 
the three years of programme delivery, is provided in the separate gateway reports on this 
committee agenda.  
 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 

1. Note the progress update report.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 13



 

 

Main report 

Background  

1. The City Cluster Vision was adopted by Committees in May 2019 and provides a 

framework for the transformation of the public realm of the area. The City Cluster Area 

delivery plan was approved by committees in July 2020 and divided the implementation 

of the Vision into three programmes, as follows 1) Pedestrian priority and traffic 

reduction, 2) Wellbeing and Climate Change Resilience, and 3) Activation and 

Engagement.  

 

2. A Gateway 3 report on the Wellbeing and Climate Change Resilience programme was 

also approved in July 2020. This report outlined the objectives of the programme which 

included the consideration of sustainable urban drainage systems, increased provision 

of greenery throughout the area, and the improvement of existing public spaces. 

 

3. The City’s Covid-19 response (Phase 1-2-3) were delivered across the Square Mile. In 

the case of the City Cluster, measures included additional space for cycling and walking 

to facilitate social distancing, along with prioritisation of space for people walking and 

cycling on key streets. Planning and Transportation Committee approved a report in 

April 2021 that restrictions will remain in place in the short term on Leadenhall Street, St 

Mary Axe and Lime Street. These measures will be subject to a further period of 

stakeholder engagement, data monitoring and Equalities Analysis before reports to 

members for a decision on whether to retain these in the longer term or not.  

 

4. In addition to the above, measures to provide additional space for seating alongside 

greening, Covid response Phase 3, have also been delivered across the City. Works 

have been implemented in the City Cluster on Creechurch Lane and Philpot Lane, with 

further potential sites being evaluated by officers, in discussion with stakeholders.   

 

5. Officers have developed the work in close collaboration with other CoL departments and 

the EC Partnership (emerging Business Improvement District). Regular updates have 

been provided throughout the process to ensure the scope of the programmes is in line 

with their objectives, particularly considering impacts of the pandemic on the local area.  

 

6. The recent work from the City’s Recovery Task Force has also been fundamental to the 

scope and implementation of the programmes.   

The Recovery Task force focuses on three dimensions:  

i. World-class business ecosystem (i.e. thriving businesses with innovation and 

 growth opportunities)   

ii. Vibrant offer (retail, hospitality, culture, heritage and recreation)  

iii. Outstanding environments (i.e. the right workspaces, environment, and 

 infrastructure). 

The following extract from the Recovery Task Force report is of particular relevance: 

“The City’s streets, gardens and public spaces will be attractive places to spend 

 time. We will accelerate our plans to rebalance vehicle use, prioritise walking, enable 

 cycling, improve air quality and provide more public space. The experience of 

Page 90



 

 

 travelling through and spending time in the Square Mile must be world class, for the 

 benefit of residents, visitors and workers alike.” 

 

Progress to date 

 
7. The development of the programme has been impacted by Covid-19 restrictions and the 

need to review the content considering the current situation. The development of 
Programme 3 – Activation and Engagement was delayed due to the level of uncertainty 
of the impacts of the pandemic. In addition, further work has been done to align the 
programme objectives with the recently adopted Climate Action Strategy and the City’s 
Recovery Taskforce objectives. A summary of the status of each programme is included 
below: 
 

8. Pedestrian priority and traffic reduction programme:  
 

• City Cluster Area Healthy Streets Plan (in progress, expected completion July 
2021): This plan will evaluate the feasibility of proposals in the City Cluster Vision 
in terms of traffic impact and traffic management measures that are required in 
order to deliver transformational change. It will also set out a proposed delivery 
plan for the implementation of the proposals.  
 

• Covid recovery Phase 1-2 measures: The traffic restrictions and street changes in 
the following streets (See table 1) will be maintained and reviewed for the short 
term with a decision to be taken on whether to retain them for a longer period of 
time following further stakeholder engagement, data analysis and Equalities 
Assessment. This may result in changes to the restrictions which are currently in 
place relating to timings and traffic mixes. If recommended to retain any longer 
term these would be under Experimental Traffic Orders and subject to a more in 
depth period of monitoring and public consultation. Further information can be 
found in the Gateway 6 report, Covid-19 Recovery Phase 1-2, submitted to 
Committees (April 2021). 
 

• In regards to St Mary Axe, a timed closure experiment was previously seeking 
Gateway 5 approval to implement a timed closure to all motor vehicles during the 
morning and evening peak periods by July 2020. The development of this 
experiment was paused while the temporary scheme was implemented on St 
Mary Axe as part of the COVID-19 transportation response, with timed access 
restrictions (7am - 7pm) aligned with that of the overall programme for ease of 
understanding. The COVID-19 transportation response project has now been 
closed but the temporary measure is being retained while further work is 
undertaken in the coming months to progress a scheme into an Experimental 
Traffic Order. Engagement with local stakeholders will be undertaken to decide 
on which traffic restrictions will be implemented for the experiment. 
 

Table 1. Covid Recovery Phase 1-2 measures in the City Cluster 

Fenchurch 
Street 

- Small areas of footway widening. 

Leadenhall 
Street 

- Point “no entry” except buses, cycles, emergency services, 
local authority services and London Buses incident 
response unit.  

Page 91



 

 

Lime Street - Extend existing “No motor vehicles” restriction to 7am – 
7pm Monday to Friday. 

St Mary Axe - “No motor vehicles” restriction (Monday to Friday between 

7am – 7pm) except vehicles accessing off street premises, 

for refuse collection, emergency services and local 

authority service vehicles. 

- Parking bays removed. 

- Pedestrian priority signage. 

 

9. Well-being and Climate Change resilience programme (A Gateway 4 report is also 
on this committee agenda for Decision):  

The content of this programme for the next 3 years (2021-2024) has been organised into 

three key areas of work (see table 2) and has been developed in collaboration with the 

Department of Open Spaces and Climate Action Strategy lead officers and local 

stakeholders. The programme has been expanded and accelerated to reflect the needs 

of stakeholders and respond to the objectives of the Climate Action Strategy and 

Recovery Taskforce. 

Table 2. Wellbeing and Climate change resilience programme scope 2021-2024 

Improvement to 
existing public 
spaces 
 

The Cluster currently contains very few public spaces to 
rest and spend time in and many existing spaces are dated 
or in need of enhancement. Considering the current health 
crisis, the provision of high-quality public spaces is 
paramount to supporting safe social interaction and City 
recovery.  
 
Designs have been developed for St Helen’s Bishopsgate 
churchyard, St Andrew Undershaft churchyard and Jubilee 
Gardens. 
 

Green Streets: Greening interventions have a positive impact on the 
environment as well as the physical and mental wellbeing of 
people. Opportunities have been identified that will seek to 
address the need for green infrastructure and will build upon 
the measures delivered as part of the Covid-19 response 
strategy.  
 

Climate Change 
resilience 
response 

The implementation and assessment of two pilot projects to 
deliver sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) proposals in 
Bevis Marks-Dukes Place and Houndsditch (vicinity of 
Jubilee Gardens), along with planting of climate resilient 
tree species across the area is proposed. Further 
opportunities will be identified as the Climate Action 
Strategy programmes inform future projects.  
 

 

10. In addition to the above projects, St Botolph Bishopsgate Churchyard has been 

identified as a high priority Churchyard in need of improvement and with serious issues 

of antisocial behaviour. An Issues report is due to be submitted which will outline next 

Page 92



 

 

steps to improve this space. In addition, further public realm and greening improvements 

have been identified for Eastcheap, Philpot Lane and St Peter Upon Cornhill Churchyard 

in discussion with the EC Partnership, which require further evaluation and will be 

presented to Members in due course.  
 

11. Activation and Engagement programme (A Gateway 3 report on this programme is 
also on this committee agenda for Decision): 

 
This programme has been aligned with the City’s Recovery Taskforce and  
Commerce and Culture Taskforce objectives and actions. Priority has been given to 
the delivery of activities and installations that will support the return to work and 
promote the area as a destination. The programme will be focussed around three 
themes (see table 3 below) and has been developed in collaboration with the EC 
Partnership, and the City’s Visitor and Destination team, and other nearby cultural 
institutions, to capitalise on the collaborative networks already in place and build an 
impactful programme which is tailored to the area’s unique character. 
 

Table 3. Activation and Engagement programme 2021-2024 

Urban greening 
and healthy 
spaces. 

Advocating the importance of welcoming spaces to 
contribute to social wellbeing and aid the recovery of the 
City. Installations will include temporary interventions in 
areas where longer term change is restricted by 
development activity, alongside events that focus on 
outdoor exercise. 
 

Business support 
and cultural 
partnerships 

Innovative programme in collaboration with cultural 
institutions to attract visitors and workers into the area, 
building on the success of Sculpture in the City and 
promoting the areas’ architectural qualities. There will be a 
strong focus on reviving retail areas and supporting 
business needs as the recovery continues, in collaboration 
with the EC Partnership. 
 

Place activation 
and installations 

Engagement with workers and visitors to encourage public 
participation through a tailored offer of activities. Promoting 
the area as destination beyond the “working week” and 
welcoming a diverse range of visitors. Opportunities will 
include outdoor activities such as music, performance and 
food events. Promoting the areas’ public spaces, unique 
built environment and rooftop gardens, which are a key 
destination in the City Cluster. 
 

   
 

12. There are number of existing public realm and highway improvement projects in the City 
Cluster, which are primarily funded via S106 and S278 agreements which have 
continued to be progressed. These are as follows: 

• 22 Bishopsgate public realm scheme – In progress, completion expected May 
2021. 

• 150 Bishopsgate public realm scheme - In progress, completion expected 
summer 2021 

Page 93



 

 

• 1 Leadenhall Street S278 works – Detailed design stage with agreement 
expected to be signed in summer 2021.   

• 6-8 Bishopsgate S278 works - Detailed design stage and agreement expected to 
be signed in 2022.   

• 80 Fenchurch St – Completed. Gateway 6 approved, February 2021. 

• Eastern Cluster wider security scheme – update expected July 2021. 
 

13. Annual programme reports will continue to be submitted to Committees and individual 
Gateway reports will be submitted as projects are developed. 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

14. The City Cluster is identified as a Key Area of Change in the draft Local plan. The area 
will experience the largest increase in working population due to current and projected 
developments. 

 
15. City of London Corporate plan outcomes of relevance to the City Cluster Vision are as 

follows: 
Corporate Outcome 1 – People are safe and feel safe    

Corporate Outcome 2 – People enjoy good health and wellbeing. 

Corporate outcome 5 – Businesses are trusted and socially and environmentally 
responsible.  

Corporate outcome 7 – We are a global hub for innovation in finance and professional 
services, commerce and culture.  

Corporate outcome 10 – We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration.  

Corporate outcome 9 - A city that is physically well-connected and responsive   

Corporate outcome 11 - A city that has clean air, land and water   

Corporate outcome 12 - Spaces which are secure, resilient and well-maintained. 

   

16. Transport Strategy – The following outcomes are relevant to the City Cluster work 
programmes:  

Outcomes:  

• The Square Mile’s streets are great places to walk and spend time.  

• Street space is used more efficiently and effectively.  

• The Square Mile is accessible to all. 

• People using our streets and public spaces are safe and feel safe.  

• The Square Mile’s air and streets are cleaner and quieter.  

• Our street network is resilient to changing circumstances.  

 

17. The City’s Recovery Taskforce, key headlines and focus areas relevant to the City Cluster 
Programmes:  

- Vibrant offer (retail, hospitality, culture, tourism) (i.e. what makes it fun and exciting to 
be here, attracting talent & visitors) 

Page 94



 

 

• Execute a marketing campaign and complementary activities programme over 

5 years to promote the City as an inclusive and exciting place to be. 

• Enable and animate the City’s weekend and night-time offer 

• The City Corporation will help leisure businesses to thrive 

- Outstanding environments (i.e. the right workspaces, environment, and infrastructure)  

• Provide new and improved public spaces that include opportunities for culture 
and exercise, and incorporate seating, greening and climate resilience 
measures.  

• Accelerate our plans to make our streets more accessible, prioritise people 
walking and improve the experience of cycling. 

 

18. Culture and Commerce Taskforce key objectives:  

- Enable Creative Activation, bringing London alive through creativity  

- Facilitate Culture and Commerce Exchange, building skills and knowledge sharing 
between culture and commerce  

- Develop Creative Enterprise Hubs, providing space for cross-sector innovation 

 

Financial implications  

 
19. The programme is proposed to be funded by a variety of sources, including site specific 

Section 106 contributions, Section 278 payments, CIL contributions (including 
Neighbourhood CIL), external sources and the Transport for London Liveable 
Neighbourhoods grant. The Cool Streets and Greening Programme is also an emerging 
funding source. 
 

20. The current estimated cost of the three programmes (for 2021-2024) is £3.6 - £3.9m, 
refer to the Appendix for further information. Programmes 2 and 3 have been expanded 
and accelerated in line with stakeholder expectations to include the enhancement of a 
number of public spaces, the delivery of climate resilience measures and an ambitious 
activation programme to aid the City’s economic and social recovery post-pandemic. 
Some of these additional elements are proposed to be funded by stakeholder 
contributions which are subject to confirmation ahead of the next Gateway, as well as 
the emerging Cool Streets and Greening programme which is subject to approval. 

 
21. As programmes continue to be developed, the cost ranges will vary depending on the 

scale of the projects and available funding sources. In particular, there may be scope to 
secure additional external funds which could deliver further improvements. Officers will 
work with the Chamberlain’s Department to continue to develop the funding strategy. 
 
 

Legal implications 

22. The existing S106 contributions which are proposed to be used to fund the programme 
are specific to this area, in scope and geography. Section 106 payments made and held 
for specific purposes must be spent on the purposes for which they are held and in 
accordance with the City’s obligations under the agreement, unless these agreements 
are specifically re-negotiated with the relevant parties. The TfL funding allocation is also 

Page 95



 

 

specific for the area and therefore ring-fenced to be spent in the City Cluster’s streets 
and spaces.  

 
23. Where further consultation is required on individual projects this will be carried out as 

the project moves forward, in accordance with either the statutory requirements or the 
principles which guide general consultation.  

 

24. The City published an Infrastructure funding statement annually which includes a 
statement of the infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure which the City intends 
will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL. Where proposals for works within the 
City Cluster Vision fall within the scope City of London Infrastructure List, CIL funds may 
be used towards such works. 
 

25. Furthermore, the removal of regulation 123 that restricted pooling of S106 and CIL 
contributions now allows local authorities to combine CIL and 106 revenues towards the 
same infrastructure project or item. 
 

Risk Implications  

26.  The top programme risks are as follows: 
 

Risk 
 

Description Response 

Future funding is not 
secured.  

Funding has been identified to 
deliver the first 3 years of the 
programme (2021-2024), 
although part of this is subject to 
funding bids being successful. 
Funding for future years (beyond 
2024) is uncertain at present.  
 
The TfL liveable neighbourhoods 
grant is currently on hold due to 
Covid-19 and further guidance is 
expected in the coming months. 

Additional funding sources are 
being investigated, including 
further external contributions. 
Officers will work closely with the 
Chamberlains Dept to finalise 
the detailed funding strategy for 
the programmes. 
 
Officers are working with 
stakeholders to support the 
submission of funding bids to 
support the programmes.  
 
Liaison with TfL in relation to 
their future grants is ongoing. 
 

Delivery timescales 
are delayed  

Projects will need to be 
coordinated with the on-going 
developments in the area. This 
will impose various programme 
constraints. 
 

On-going communication with 
developers and contractors is 
essential, as is the need for 
flexibility in the programme.  

Lack of stakeholder 
support  

The public consultation on the 
City Cluster Vision and the 
Transport Strategy highlighted 
strong overall support to deliver 
the proposed initiatives.  

A communication strategy is in 
place to ensure stakeholders are 
consulted at various stages of 
the projects. 
 
The EC Partnership and 
stakeholders in the Cluster have 
expressed their support for the 
programme. Engagement with 

Page 96



 

 

these groups has been 
maintained and will continue. 
 

Covid-19 risks: 
 
Delivery plan requires 
changes  
 

Due to the impacts of Covid-19 
projects have been delayed and 
updated timescales are yet to be 
confirmed. It is likely that 
projects within the delivery plan 
will continue to be reviewed in 
line with government advice on 
restrictions. 

The situation is being monitored 
and the scope of the projects will 
be evaluated to ensure projects 
comply with governmental 
guidance.  

Implementation of 
projects is delayed 

 

Project delivery  

27. The initial set projects are estimated to be delivered over a period of three years, 2021-

2024. The programmes are to be coordinated with the developments in the area, taking 

into account future construction sites and permissions. 

 

Conclusion 

28. The City Cluster area delivery plan outlines a framework for the creation of a positive 

and welcoming street environment to support the City’s recovery. The programme will 

deliver on the objectives of the City’s Recovery Taskforces, and ensure the streets and 

spaces are attractive, safe and inclusive. The ability to place the City Cluster as a 

destination beyond the working hours, welcoming visitors and workers alike remains a 

key aim.  

Background papers 

• City Cluster Area– Updated Delivery Plan approved by: 

 
Planning and Transportation Committee – For decision 
Streets and Walkways Sub – For decision 
Projects Sub – For decision 
Open Spaces Committee - For information  
  

Date(s): 
14 July 2020 
07 July 2020 
30 July 2020 
14 July 2020 

 

Appendix: 

1. City Cluster Area programme summary funding tables 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 
 

Procurement Sub Committee – For Decision  
Finance Committee – For Decision 
Project Sub Committee – For Information  
Streets and Walkways Sub Committee – For Information 
 

12 April 2021 
13 April 2021 
14 April 2021 
29 April 2021 
 

Subject: Highway Construction & Maintenance Term 
Contract Tender  

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate Plan 
does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 9, 10, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or capital 
spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of: Director of Built Environment  For Information / 
For Decision Report authors:  

Ian Hughes (Deputy Director), Transportation & Public Realm 
Giles Radford, (Highways Manager), T&PR, DBE 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

The purpose of this report is to seek Member approval for the procurement strategy 
to be used in the selection of a new term contractor for highway construction & 
maintenance services. 
 
The City's current highways term maintenance contractor is JB Riney who deliver 
highway maintenance, resurfacing, road marking, drainage, street lighting, public 
realm enhancements and highway changes for the Department of the Built 
Environment, as well as similar services for other departments. 
 
Experience has shown that having a term contract in place has delivered several 
benefits. These include economies of scale, high quality work, early contractor 
involvement, quicker scheme delivery, lower staff costs, greater cost certainty, 
partnership working and more appropriate risk management. 
 
The City’s term contract was last tendered in 2012 and consolidated a number of 
previous contracts, using economies of scale to deliver significant savings. As a 
result, returning to separate contracts for different aspects of the service is not 
recommended. Similarly, other procurement options such as taking the function 
back in house, using frameworks or employing the London Highway Alliance 
Contract (LoHAC) are not expected to deliver Best Value across a range of 
measures including cost, quality & performance, flexibility and early contractor 
involvement. 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 14



JB Riney are now 8½ years through their ten-year term (five years plus five-year 
extension), during which time they have maintained a very high level of 
performance. Nevertheless, the contract cannot be extended, and it is appropriate 
to test the market again to determine whether Riney are delivering best value. As 
such, officers of DBE, together with Procurement and Comptrollers, are intending to 
retender these services in time for the current contract to expire in June 2022.  
 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are recommended to approve the retendering of the term contract for 
highway construction & maintenance as set out in this report. 
 

 

Main Report 

Background 
 

1. The City Corporation is the Highway Authority for all the public highway and 
City walkway areas in the Square Mile, except those streets that fall within the 
Transport for London Road Network. 

 
2. As such, the Department of the Built Environment (DBE) is responsible for 

maintaining those streets, footpaths and walkways, including inspecting them 
for defects, undertaking repairs and resurfacing, maintaining signs, road 
markings, bollards, street nameplates & drainage. It also looks after powered 
& illuminated street furniture, such as road signs, fountains & streetlights, as 
well as all new highway construction activities, ranging from road safety & 
transportation schemes to public realm & security projects, including highway 
repairs & enhancements related to building developments. 

 
3. DBE delivers all these functions using a term contract, with the current 

incumbents being JB Riney.  They were awarded the contract in early 2012 
following a standard EU procurement process, and over the 8½ years of the 
contract so far, Riney have often delivered over £10m of work each year. 
Most of that value relates to major public realm schemes & developments 
rather than standard highway maintenance operations, but also includes a 
smaller amount of work delivered for Open Spaces and the City Surveyors. 
 

4. Despite the impact of COVID-19 which resulted in a shutdown of non-
essential work during the last part of the contractual year (which ran to June 
2020), the value of work delivered through the term contract remained around 
£10m for the year. 
 

5. With the current term contract set to expire in June 2022, officers have 
confirmed with the Comptroller & City Solicitor that it cannot be extended 
beyond its five + five year duration, and the expectation in any case would be 
that after 10 years operation, it’s appropriate to test the market to ensure the 
City is still receiving best value for these services. 

 
 

Page 100



Contract Focus 

6. The direction and culture of the forthcoming contract needs to remain aligned 
to the City’s requirements of delivering & maintaining high quality streets and 
public spaces. It also needs to consider the challenging funding environment 
for highway maintenance works that recently resulted in changes to the City’s 
intervention thresholds for road and footway repairs. 

7. The winning bidder will be required to demonstrate value for money, operate 
with a degree of flexibility that minimises the impact of their works on 
pedestrian and vehicular traffic and be able to introduce innovation to the way 
services are delivered through the use of recycled materials and identifying 
more sustainable approaches to maintaining the highway aligned with the 
Climate Action Strategy. 

8. The City’s term contract has been built on a partnership approach with a 
series of City-specific Key Performance Indicators and sample checks being 
used to monitor performance, and with the contractor only paid for the work 
they complete rather than tracking every deviation from the construction 
package which otherwise can result in the creation of a claims culture. 

9. The difficulties of working in the City’s compact street environment, often with 
prohibitive volumes of underground utility services, requires the winning 
bidder to be flexible and adaptable, making a prescriptive contractual 
approach unsuitable for the City’s environment.  To help manage this, Riney 
felt it appropriate to embed a resource at Guildhall dedicated to working with 
the City to improve and maintain communications with those affected by their 
works, and something similar may be proposed by tenderers this time. 

10. Other successful aspects of the contract that will be sought to be retained 
include: 

• a percentage of the contract sum is put at risk in the event of 
underperformance against the contract KPIs 

• a mechanism is included to allow for early invoicing for standard 
monthly activities, allowing for a contract discount to be offered by the 
contractor 

• a percentage rebate is offered by the contractor back to the City based 
on turnover through the contract over the previous 12 months, 
available for reinvestment to promote innovation  

• high standards for ethical procurement, particularly the way in which 
materials are sourced through the supply chain. 

11. In terms of new innovations, the contract will look to include: 

• any innovation or concept that will support or align with the objectives 
of the Climate Action Strategy, including engagement with the supply 
chain regarding sustainable new materials & products 

• a specification aligned with the City’s approved technical manual SPD 
for the use of highway materials and concepts such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems  

Page 101



• a focus on managing the contractor’s vehicle fleet, encouraging the use 
of electric vehicles, tools and plant 

• the provision of lean technological processes that help the collection 
and management of data in a faster and more cost-effective way 

• better use of technology to enhance Health & Safety and improve 
working practices in terms of near miss reporting, protection systems 
and live site updates to gangs 

• reporting and active support for diversity within the company and the 
contract 

• opportunities for apprentices in terms of their performance and 
development.  

 

Current Position – Use of a Term Contract 

12. There are several established benefits to using a term contract arrangement 
for Highway works.  

Economies of Scale 

13. Matters of highway maintenance and scheme delivery clearly overlap in terms 
of labour, plant & materials, and the combined volume of maintenance & 
project work through the term contract delivers economies of scale in terms of 
material rates and management skills.  

14. Taking this approach in 2012 and combining three previously separate term 
contracts (highway maintenance, highway resurfacing and highway drainage) 
delivered efficiency savings of around 18% on revenue works and 22% on 
typical capital street scene works. As a result, it is thought uneconomic to 
unpick this approach and separate these contracts back out. 

Quality of work 

15. In addition to economies of scale, there is a risk to the City of using different 
contractors for different types of work.  This is because of the City’s difficult 
working environment, its use of high-quality materials that need particular 
expertise, and its desire for high quality finishes that better suit a regular, 
skilled and knowledgeable workforce.   

16. Most of the construction gangs have worked in the City for many years, using 
TUPE to transfer across companies to remain here.  As a result, they are 
used to working in the City’s narrow streets with our difficult combination of 
traffic, cyclists, pedestrians, businesses, residents and visitors. They also 
have a proven track record of delivering high quality work with our specialist 
pallet of materials that has stood the test of time. 

17. By comparison, other contractors can lack the experience of working in our 
challenging environment and gangs & supervisors can be unprepared for the 
City’s local conditions. 

Early contractor involvement 

18. The City is sufficiently skilled in the process of delivering complex highway 
schemes that we develop the final design for the eventual scheme in parallel 

Page 102



to how the scheme will be built.  This allows the range of construction costs to 
be narrowed during the design process, with contingencies reduced and 
potential savings identified.  

19. Key to this is the need for early contractor involvement, meaning the decision 
over the choice of contractor must be made early in the project. Having a term 
contractor actively involved early in the design and construction planning 
process allows them to advise on maintainability and buildability issues in the 
certainty that they will both be undertaking the work as well as maintain it 
going forward.  Without a term contract in place, this would not be possible, 
and these benefits would be unrealised. 

The risk of claims 

20. Under a separate tendering arrangement for each major project, there would 
also be a much greater risk of claims as tenderers will be more likely to lack 
an adequate appreciation of how difficult a place the City is to work because 
of its narrow streets, high traffic and pedestrian density, high quality 
requirements and major subsurface utility infrastructure.   

21. As a result, they are much more likely to request compensation events than 
under the City’s current term contract arrangement, where such claims are 
virtually nil as the contractor is able to redeploy staff to other City work in the 
event of delays caused by unforeseen issues. 

 

Options - Alternatives to a term contract 

22. The benefits set out above typically underpin the choice of a term contract 
over other ways of procuring these services and is the way most highway 
authorities manage these functions.  There are alternatives (set out below), 
but none have proved sufficiently viable in the past for the City to utilise them 
for this type of work.  

In-house provision of services 

23. It is some time since the City delivered these services through an in-house 
direct labour structure, and currently there are no plans to propose such a 
move. Using experienced construction companies is still seen as the most 
efficient way to deliver these works across the sector as they typically have 
wider resources to draw upon, they are in a better position to manage supply 
chain risks and they can use accumulated volumes across different contracts 
to negotiate enhanced rates in labour, plant and materials.  

Retendering each major scheme 

24. There is an argument that retendering individual major schemes would allow 
market forces to deliver the cheapest rates for each job.  However, there are 
several key problems with this approach.  In particular, tendering major works 
on an individual basis would cause significant delays to each project due to 
the timescale involved in such a process.  

25. A tender would usually only be run once the construction package is finalised, 
at which point the scheme delivery process would have to stop for this to 
happen.  Given the value of some schemes, having to tender at this point 
could then add over a year to the construction timetable as OJEU tendering 

Page 103



regulations would apply and add considerably to staff costs.  Early contractor 
involvement would also not be possible in order to maintain a level playing 
field between tendering companies. 

26. By having a term contract in place, the City does not have to wait for the 
scheme construction package to be finalised and the design process halted 
while the work package is tendered.  Instead, costs are established through a 
dynamic assessment process during the design stage. 

Operating a series of framework contracts 

27. A framework contract with a number of suppliers to call off could address 
some of these mid design tendering delays but disconnecting the major works 
contract from the highway maintenance contract risks introducing conflicts 
between contractors in terms of design and downstream maintainability.  

28. In addition, the current joined up approach allows the contractor to move 
resources between schemes & maintenance works, allowing it to manage 
resources without incurring claims by responding to on-site delays, moving 
gangs between works to keep them productive. Having different contractors 
delivering different aspects of the same service puts this flexibility at risk. 

The London Highways Alliance Contract (LoHAC) 

29. TfL recently completed a retender for their highway services which is open for 
other highway authorities in London to join. The City can choose to join the 
London Highways Alliance Contract (LoHAC) but previous benchmarking of 
the respective contract costs had previously shown the City’s term contract 
was demonstrably cheaper. However, more fundamentally, differences in the 
two forms of contract suggest LoHAC would cost more for the City to 
administer & it would introduce a significant risk of claims that are virtually 
absent from the City’s term contract.  

30. On this basis, Members previously agreed to remain with the City’s term 
contract approach when Riney’s 5 year contract extension was approved, and 
despite the recent retender by TfL, the view of officers remains the same. Any 
potential economies of scale are outweighed by a likely lack of priority from 
the contractor when part of such a wide-ranging contract, as well as the risk of 
higher management costs and the introduction of a claims culture. As such, 
using LoHAC is not recommended, albeit there could still be opportunities to 
remain involved for benchmarking and contingency planning purposes.  

 

Proposal 

31. In summary, the justification for continuing to use a term contract for these 
functions includes: 

• It allows the provision of flexible, joined-up services, having one 
contractor to build, inspect and maintain all aspects of the highway; 

• It allows resources to be swapped seamlessly between highway 
maintenance and major schemes, minimising the risk of claims for 
downtime whilst ensuring maximum flexibility of resource 

Page 104



• It delivers economies of scale in terms of management resource, 
material procurement and workforce; 

• It facilitates a corporate resource available to other departments to 
deliver work of a similar nature; 

• It removes the delay and cost to individual projects of tendering these 
services each time, creating a ‘fast track’ to facilitate early contractor 
involvement, both in terms of time and expertise; 

• It minimises the impact of these works on the public by ensuring that 
gangs, supervisors and managers all understand the requirements 
necessary to work in the Square Mile. 

32. As a result, it is proposed to proceed with a combined tender for a term 
contract for these works and services based on the Timeline set out in 
Appendix 1. 

 
Strategic Implications 
 
33. Having an effective, high quality term contract for highways construction & 

maintenance is essential to delivering key aspects of the City’s Corporate 
plan, in particular: 

• Our spaces are secure, resilient & well maintained to high standards 

• Creating & transforming streets & public spaces for people to admire & 
enjoy 

• Improving the experience of arriving in & moving through our spaces 

• Protecting users of streets & public spaces 
 

34. The Procurement Category Board has confirmed it is supportive of the 
proposed procurement approach to deliver Best Value for highway works (see 
Appendix 2), with the contract designed to be available for use by other 
departments. 
 

Financial implications 

35. In 2012, the estimated annual value attributed to the contract was £10m per 
annum. The value of works delivered through the contract has since varied 
from £4m (during the Olympic shutdown in 2012) to almost £17m per 12 
month period, with the annual amount depending on the volume of work 
around new developments, public realm schemes (such as Holborn Circus, 
the recent Street Lighting LED upgrade & Crossrail) and general highway 
maintenance operations.. 
 

36. The following table helps to show the spend profile over the eight full contract 
years so far (1st July to 30th June). A similar level of turnover is expected for 
the new contract, but to be clear, no guarantee of turnover is included in the 
contract and the City is not required to underwrite a specific volume or value of 
work. 

 

 

Page 105



 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

£3.7m £9.3m £11.2m £10.8m £10.6m £13.4m £16.98m £10.2m 

 

Resource implications 

37. By allowing the term contractor to deliver a joined-up service managed 
through Key Performance Indicators, the City staff resources required to 
manage the contract are relatively limited and have been able to function 
without the need for quantity surveyors. Changing the currently contractual 
approach would likely require additional DBE staff resources to manage this 
process. 

 

Legal & Risk implications 

38. As noted above, the term contract will reach the full extent of its available term 
in June 2022 and cannot be extended with the risk of challenge. Therefore, a 
retender for these services is required.  

 

Equalities Implications  

39. Active engagement and management of diversity within the company and the 
contract will be of the highest importance, whilst clear and concise data 
capture on how this is being achieved will be mandatory.  
 

Climate Implications  

40. All changes and new innovations within the proposed contract will seek to 
improve our approach towards the climate change emergency through 
delivering new initiatives and innovations with successful and measurable 
outcomes. 
 

Security Implications  

41. None 

 

Conclusion 

42. The term contract partnership approach has a proven track record (20 years+) 
in delivering high quality outcomes for the City & its stakeholders and remains 
the preferred solution for delivering these functions. 

 

Appendices  

• Appendix 1 - Contract award & mobilisation timetable 

• Appendix 2 – Procurement Category Board (PT4) Report   

 

Page 106



 
Report authors: 
Ian Hughes 
Deputy Director, Transportation & Public Realm, Dept of the Built Environment 
T: 020 7332 1977 
E; ian.hughes@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 
Giles Radford 
Highways Manager, Transportation & Public Realm, Dept of the Built Environment 
T: 020 7332 3924 
E: Giles.radford@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



Committee(s) 

Streets & Walkways Sub Committee 

Dated:  

29/04/2021 

Subject: Report of Action Taken Public  

 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 

Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

9a, 9d 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 

capital spending? 

No 

Report of: Town Clerk For Information 

 
Summary 

This report advises Members of action taken by the Town Clerk since the last meeting 
of the Sub-Committee, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, in 
accordance with Standing Order Nos. 41(a) and (b).  
 
Recommendation: 
 

• That Members note the report.  
 

Main Report 
 
Wireless Concession 
 

1. In 2017 the City Corporation entered into a wireless concession with 
Cornerstone to deliver the deployment of a free Citywide WiFi network. As 
part of the agreement the concession partner was also required to deliver 
shared infrastructure on our highway assets for use by the mobile network 
operators (MNO’s) in relation to providing small cell capacity for their 4G and 
5G networks. In October 2019 the Streets and Walkways Sub Committee 
agreed to allow replacement of ten 3 metre columns with 8 metre columns for 
deployment of wireless infrastructure and granted delegated authority to the 
Town Clerk and Chairman and Deputy Chairman to approve further 
replacement columns in 150 locations to improve mobile coverage. The 
further 150 locations were considered necessary to support the future 
deployment of 4G and 5G networks in 2021. 

 
2. The MNO’s are now at a point where they need additional capacity in their 

network to support 4G/5G usage. The concession partner has been in 
dialogue with the four licensed MNO’s about their technical and capacity 
requirements and each has agreed to participate in the trial of shared 
infrastructure. Subject to their being a satisfactory outcome of the trial all 
MNO’s have expressed an interest in utilising a wider City network.   
 

3. A proposal was submitted which sought to undertake a trial of the shared 
telecommunications infrastructure along Queen Victoria Street in ten locations 
and if this satisfies the requirements of the MNO’s, to progress to the full City 
roll-out. Consequently, a delegated report was submitted providing an update 
on the proposals to deliver a Citywide 4G and 5G shared infrastructure 

Page 109

Agenda Item 15



network and sought agreement to install eight 8 metre columns to support the 
proposed trial.   
 

4. Following a successful trial, it is proposed to deploy the infrastructure across 
the whole of the City in four phases for completion by Q4 2022. Further 
reports seeking agreement to the locations of new eight metre columns will be 
provided in respect of these phases, following extensive discussions and 
agreement from technical officers in accordance with the process chart 
appended to the delegated report. 
 

5. The full delegated report is provided for the Sub Committee’s information as 
an appendix to this report.  

 
Action Taken 
 

6. The Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman: 
 

i) Noted the update on the deployment of a citywide 4G and 5G network; and 
 
ii) Agreed the use of eight 8 metre columns along Queen Victoria Street to 

facilitate the trial of shared mobile infrastructure for 4G and 5G networks. 
 
 
Appendices 
Delegated Report of the City Surveyor and the Director of the Built Environment – April 
2021 
 
 
 
Joseph Anstee 
Town Clerk’s Department 
E: joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 110

mailto:joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Date Action 

 

Officer 

responsible 

 

To be 

completed/ 

progressed to 

next stage  

Notes/Progress to date 

 

 

15 October 2020 
1 December 2021 
18 February 2021 

Dockless Vehicles 
To keep the Sub-Committee informed 
of activities to manage the use of 
dockless cycles and e-scooters in the 
Square Mile and any related issues. 

Director of 

the Built 

Environment 

April 2021 We have given approval for Lime and 
HumanForest to operate dockless bike schemes 
in the City. We are continuing to work with TfL on 
the London rental e-scooter trial. A procurement 
exercise to select operators was concluded this 
month and three operators were selected. The 
trial is expected to begin late May/early June. 
 

3 December 2019 
25 February 2020 
7 July 2020 
15 October 2020 
1 December 2021 
18 February 2021 

Beech Street Transport and Public 
Realm Improvements 
The project will address air quality 
issues by reducing traffic that pass 
through the tunnel. At the same time, 
it aims to deliver a vibrant street with a 
high-quality public realm at the centre 
of the Culture Mile, which will also 
provide the opportunity to realise 
property outcomes. 

Director of 

the Built 

Environment 

December 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
February 2021 
 
 
 
 
April 2021 

The experimental traffic restrictions went live on 
18 March 2020. With the second national 
lockdown in place for November 2020 the traffic 
counts for monitoring were delayed until January 
2021. 
 
To compensate for the COVID delay, the public 
consultation and scheme monitoring windows 
were extended and kept under review. 
 
The Sub Committee considered a Gateway 5 
Issues report, approving the continuation of the 
Experimental Traffic Order until September 2021 
with the changes to the central reservation. 
 
Officers will provide a verbal update at the 
meeting. 

 

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 16



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 112



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Pedestrian Priority Programme
	7 Climate Action Strategy - Cool Streets and Greening Programme
	8 City Cluster Area - Wellbeing and Climate Change resilience programme implementation (2021-2024)
	9 City Cluster Area - Activation and Engagement Programme
	10 City of London Transport Strategy - Review 2022
	11 Bloomberg Development Highway Works
	12 Consolidated Report - Shoe Lane Quarter Public Realm Enhancements - Phases 1 and 2
	13 City Cluster Area - Programme Update
	14 Highway Construction & Maintenance Term Contract Tender
	15 Report of Action Taken
	16 Outstanding References
	19 Non-public minutes

